

 AGENDA FOR THE 


 
 


CITY OF PINOLE PLANNING COMMISSION  
REGULAR MEETING  


 
Monday, April 24, 2023 


7:00 P.M.  
 Via Zoom Videoconference and In Person 
___________________________________________________________________________________ 


 
WAYS TO WATCH THE MEETING 


• IN PERSON. Attendance at the Pinole City Council Chambers (2131 Pear St). 


• LIVE ON CHANNEL 26. The Community TV Channel 26 schedule is published on the 
City’s website at www.ci.pinole.ca.us. The meeting can be viewed again as a retelecast 
on Channel 26. 


• VIDEO-STREAMED LIVE ON THE CITY’S WEBSITE, www.ci.pinole.ca.us. and remain 
archived on the site for five (5) years. 


• ZOOM VIDEOCONFERENCE. Zoom details are included below. 


• If none of these options are available to you, or you need assistance with public comment, 
please contact Planning Manager David Hanham at (510) 724-8912 or 
dhanham@ci.pinole.ca.us. 


HOW TO SUBMIT PUBLIC COMMENTS 


In Person:  


Attend meeting at the Pinole City Council Chambers, fill out a yellow public comment card and 
submit it to the Planning Manager. 


Via Zoom: 


Members of the public may submit a live remote public comment via Zoom video conferencing. 
Download the Zoom mobile app from the Apple Appstore or Google Play. If you are using a 
desktop computer, you can test your connection to Zoom by clicking here. Zoom also allows you 
to join the meeting by phone. 


From a PC, Mac, iPad, iPhone or Android:     


https://us02web.zoom.us/j/86505375301  


  OR 


https://zoom.us/join 


Webinar ID: 865 0537 5301 


By phone:   +1 (669) 900-6833  or  +1 (253) 215-8782  or  +1 (346) 248-7799    


• Speakers will be asked to provide their name and city of residence, although 
providing this is not required for participation. 


• Each speaker will be afforded up to 5 minutes to speak. 
• Speakers will be muted until their opportunity to provide public comment. 



http://www.ci.pinole.ca.us/

mailto:dhanham@ci.pinole.ca.us

https://www.zoom.us/join

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/86505375301

https://zoom.us/join





PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA 
April 24, 2023  PAGE 2 
 
When the Chair opens the comment period for the item you wish to speak on, please use the 
“raise hand” feature (or press *9 if connecting via telephone) which will alert staff that you have a 
comment to provide. Once you have been identified to speak, please check to make sure you 
have unmuted yourself in the videoconference application (or press *6 if connecting via 
telephone). 
 
WRITTEN COMMENTS 
Please submit public comments to Planning Staff before the meeting via email to 
dhanham@ci.pinole.ca.us. Please include your full name, city of residence and agenda item you 
are commenting on. 
 
AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT  
In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, if you need special assistance to 
participate in a City meeting or you need a copy of the agenda, or the agenda packet in an 
appropriate alternative format, please contact the Development Services Department at (510) 
724-8912.  Notification of at least 48 hours prior to the meeting or time when services are needed 
will assist the City staff in assuring that reasonable arrangements can be made to provide 
accessibility to the meeting or service. 
 


 
CITIZEN PARTICIPATION:  
 


Persons wishing to speak on an item listed on the Agenda may do so when the Chair asks for 
comments in favor of or in opposition to the item under consideration. After all of those persons 
wishing to speak have done so, the hearing will be closed and the matter will be discussed 
amongst the Commission prior to rendering a decision.  
 
Any person may appeal an action of the Planning Commission or of the Planning Manager by 
filing an appeal with the City Clerk, in writing, within ten (10) days of such action.  Following a 
Public Hearing, the City Council may act to confirm, modify or reverse the action of the Planning 
Commission and the Planning Commission may act to confirm, modify, or reverse the action of 
the Planning Manager. The cost to appeal a decision is $500 and a minimum $2,500 deposit fee.  
 
Note: If you challenge a decision of the Commission regarding a project in court, you may be 
limited to raising only those issues you or someone else raised at the public hearing or in writing 
delivered to the City of Pinole at, or prior to, the public hearing.  
 


A. CALL TO ORDER  
 
 
B1. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
 
B2. LAND ACKNOWLEDGMENT: Before we begin, we would like to acknowledge the Ohlone 


people, who are the traditional custodians of this land. We pay our respects to the Ohlone 
elders, past, present, and future, who call this place, Ohlone Land, the land that Pinole 
sits upon, their home. We are proud to continue their tradition of coming together and 
growing as a community. We thank the Ohlone community for their stewardship and 
support, and we look forward to strengthening our ties as we continue our relationship of 
mutual respect and understanding. 


 
B3. ROLL CALL 



mailto:dhanham@ci.pinole.ca.us





PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA 
April 24, 2023  PAGE 3 
 
 
C. CITIZENS TO BE HEARD: 
 


The public may address the Planning Commission on items that are within its jurisdiction 
and not otherwise listed on the agenda.  Planning Commissioners may discuss the matter 
brought to their attention, but by State law (Ralph M. Brown Act), action must be deferred 
to a future meeting.  Time allowed: five (5) minutes each. 


 
 
D. MEETING MINUTES: 
 


1. Planning Commission Meeting Minutes from March 27, 2023 
 
 
E. PUBLIC HEARINGS: 
 


At the beginning of an item, the Chair will read the description of that item as stated on 
the Agenda. The City Staff will then give a brief presentation of the proposed project. The 
Commission may then ask Staff questions about the item.  


 
For those items listed as Public Hearings, the Chair will open the public hearing and ask 
the applicant if they wish to make a presentation. Those persons in favor of the project will 
then be given an opportunity to speak followed by those who are opposed to the project. 
The applicant will then be given an opportunity for rebuttal.  


 
The Public Hearing will then be closed and the Commission may discuss the item amongst 
themselves and ask questions of Staff. The Commission will then vote to approve, deny, 
approve in a modified form, or continue the matter to a later date for a decision. The Chair 
will announce the Commission's decision and advise the audience of the appeal 
procedure. 


 
Note: No Public Hearings will begin after 11:00 p.m. Items still remaining on the 
agenda after 11:00 p.m. will be held over to the next meeting. 


 
 


1. Conditional Use Permit CUP23-02 Parking Reduction at 612 Tennent Ave and 600 
Tennent Ave/2279 Park St 


 
Request:  Consideration of a Conditional Use Permit request to reduce the number 


of on-site parking spaces for 612 Tennent Ave and 600 Tennent Ave/2279 
Park St in accordance with Section 17.48.060 (B) of the Pinole Municipal 
Code. 


 
 Applicant:  Leonard Williams and Shane Pasco 
 
Location:  600 Tennent Ave/2279 Park St (APN 402-142-010) and 612 Tennent Ave 


(APN 401-142-011) 
 
Planner:  David Hanham 


 
 


 







PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA 
April 24, 2023  PAGE 4 
 
F. OLD BUSINESS:  
 
 None 
 
 
G. NEW BUSINESS:  
 


1. Selection of Chair, Vice-Chair, and the Ad-Hoc Planning Commission Sub-
Committee for 2023-2024 


 
 


H. CITY PLANNER'S/COMMISSIONER'S REPORT: 
 
 
 
I. COMMUNICATIONS: 
 
 


 
J. NEXT MEETING(S):  
 


Planning Commission Regular Meeting, May 8, 2023 at 7:00PM  
 
 


K. ADJOURNMENT  
 
 
 
POSTED: April 20, 2023 
 
 
_________________________________ 
David Hanham 
Planning Manager 







  


 


               March 27, 2023     1 


DRAFT 1 


 2 


MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING 3 


PINOLE PLANNING COMMISSION 4 


 5 


March 27, 2023   6 


 7 


THIS MEETING WAS HELD IN A HYBRID FORMAT  8 


BOTH IN-PERSON AND ZOOM TELECONFERENCE  9 


 10 


 11 


A.        CALL TO ORDER:    7:03 p.m. 12 


 13 


B1. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 14 


 15 


B2. LAND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT:  Before we begin, we would like to acknowledge the 16 


Ohlone people, who are the traditional custodians of this land.  We pay our respects to 17 


the Ohlone elders, past, present and future, who call this place, Ohlone Land, the land 18 


that Pinole sits upon, their home.  We are proud to continue their tradition of coming 19 


together and growing as a community.  We thank the Ohlone community for their 20 


stewardship and support, and we look forward to strengthening our ties as we continue 21 


our relationship of mutual respect and understanding. 22 


 23 


B3. ROLL CALL  24 


 25 


Commissioners Present: Banuelos, Benzuly, Kurrent, Menis, Vice Chairperson 26 


Martinez*, Chairperson Moriarty   27 


     *Teleconference Location  28 


 29 


Commissioners Absent:   None  30 


 31 


Staff Present:   David Hanham, Planning Manager   32 


    Alex Mog, Assistant City Attorney   33 


    Justin Shiu, Contract Planner  34 


 35 


Assistant City Attorney Alex Mog reported that Vice Chairperson Martinez was not present 36 


in-person and pursuant to the new regulations for in-person meetings, a general description 37 


of the location where the Vice Chair was located, circumstances related to the need to 38 


participate remotely as well as identify whether anyone was over 18 years of age was present 39 


in the same room and off camera was to be provided.   40 


 41 


Vice Chairperson Martinez reported he was on vacation and wanted to participate to ensure 42 


a quorum.  There was no one in the room under 18 years of age present at his location and 43 


given he was experiencing technical difficulties he left the meeting at this time.   44 


 45 


Commissioner Kurrent encouraged Vice Chairperson Martinez to forward any comments he 46 


may have related to Item E1 to staff.   47 


   48 


C. CITIZENS TO BE HEARD 49 


 50 


ITEM D1 







  


 


               March 27, 2023     2 


 Planning Manager David Hanham reported there were no comments from the public.   1 


   2 


D. MEETING MINUTES 3 


 4 


1. Planning Commission Meeting Minutes from February 27, 2023.   5 


 6 


MOTION with a Roll Call vote to approve the Planning Commission Meeting Minutes from 7 


February 27, 2023, as submitted.   8 


    9 


 MOTION:  Menis  SECONDED: Kurrent          APPROVED:  3-0-3  10 


                     ABSTAIN:  Banuelos, Benzuly 11 


            ABSENT:  Martinez 12 


  13 


 After the motion was taken, and in response to Commissioner Menis as to whether a 14 


majority was required to approve the meeting minutes, Assistant City Attorney Mog 15 


clarified a majority vote of the Commission was required for some things such as 16 


resolutions or actions on permits, but other actions such as the approval of the meeting 17 


minutes allowed a vote from the majority of the quorum present.   18 


 19 


E. PUBLIC HEARINGS: 20 


 21 


1. Recommendation of a General Plan Amendment to Adopt Revised 2023-2031 22 


Housing Element  23 


The Planning Commission is requested to consider making a recommendation to 24 


the City Council for a General Plan Amendment to adopt the revised 2023-2031 25 


Housing Element. On January 17, 2023, the 2023-2031 Housing Element (issue 26 


date: December 2, 2022) was adopted by City Council. Following receipt of 27 


subsequent comments from the California Department of Housing and Community 28 


Development (HCD), the revised 2023-2031 Housing Element was prepared to 29 


incorporate changes based on the feedback received.  As an Element of the Pinole 30 


General Plan, and in accordance with the California Government Code, the 31 


Housing Element presents a comprehensive set of housing policies and programs 32 


to address identified housing needs for the City of Pinole for the 2023 through 2031 33 


planning period. The project is exempt from the California Environmental Quality 34 


Act (CEQA) pursuant to Section 15061(b)(3) of the State CEQA guidelines 35 


(Common Sense Exemption) because (1) it can be seen with certainty that there 36 


is no possibility that the proposed 2023-2031 Housing Element would have a 37 


significant effect on the environment, (2) no property re-zoning is needed to 38 


accommodate the City’s Regional Housing Needs Allocation, and (3) potential 39 


residential development densities have already been analyzed and mitigated in an 40 


earlier Environmental Impact Report. The revised 2023-2031 Housing Element 41 


can be accessed online (www.landuseplanningforpinole.com) or at the Community 42 


Development Department at Pinole City Hall (2131 Pear Street). 43 


 44 


Planning Manager Hanham introduced the agenda item as described and provided an 45 


overview of the background and community engagement as part of the Revised 2023-2031 46 


Housing Element and as outlined in the March 27, 2023 staff report.   47 


 48 


 49 







  


 


               March 27, 2023     3 


David Wery, Michael Baker International (MBI), provided a PowerPoint presentation which 1 


also detailed the background of the 2023-2031 Housing Element Update and community 2 


engagement process and the review of the Draft 2023-2031 Housing Element by the 3 


California Department of Housing and Community Development (HCD).  HCD provided 30 4 


informal comments on the City’s Draft Housing Element with staff having met with HCD on 5 


January 30, 2023 to review the comments, and with a Revised Draft of the Housing Element 6 


having been published and submitted to HCD on February 17, 2023.  HCD responded on 7 


March 2, 2023 with 22 formal comments for review.   8 


 9 


HCD requested additional detail to support analyses and conclusions, additional outreach 10 


and support from developers and real estate professionals.  There were no changes to the 11 


sites inventory and only minor changes to programs.   12 


 13 


Mr. Wery summarized the revisions which included more data on development disabilities, 14 


overpayment, local rent source, code enforcement, City-level fair housing data, local 15 


knowledge from developers and real estate professionals, review of voter initiatives and Bay 16 


Area Regional Energy Network (BayREN) participation.  As part of Affirmatively Furthering 17 


Fair Housing (AFFH), he noted the City of Pinole was the most integrated community in 18 


Contra Costa County, and more rationale was provided for Regional Housing Needs 19 


Allocation (RHNA) sites along the City’s three Mixed Use (MU) Corridors and comparison of 20 


census tracts, County-level historic development trends had been added, and two other 21 


contributing factors had been added to the local fair housing conditions.   22 


 23 


As to the Sites Inventory, trends and examples of commercial-commercial development, 24 


comparison of non-vacant sites in the inventory to recent projects, and details on each 25 


pending project including demonstrating affordability of lower and moderate-income units 26 


had been added along with support letters from housing developers to finish projects. 27 


 28 


For Constraints, revisions included specifics on permit processing time, example and details 29 


on comprehensive design review; clarified that inclusionary requirements were not a 30 


constraint on housing production by using recent project trends; identified local amendments 31 


to the building code; provided information on requests to develop below the anticipated 32 


density on the 5th Cycle Housing Element sites; and added analyses reviewing height and 33 


setback standards of recent projects.   34 


 35 


As to the Zoning, clarifications were provided for compliance of emergency shelter and 36 


supportive housing standards, Senate Bill (SB) 330, replacement of affordable housing units 37 


and streamlining of the parking reduction process.  For Public Participation, efforts to reach 38 


out to lower and moderate-income individuals had been discussed. 39 


 40 


Mr. Wery provided a map of the Housing Sites Inventory which included recently entitled 41 


projects and RHNA sites to meet the remaining RHNA obligations.  He also walked through 42 


the Housing Element Program revisions as follows:   43 


 44 


• Program 5 added to address SB 9, Technical Assistance to streamline SB 9 units;  45 


 46 


• Program 1 to include a mid-cycle progress review in 2027; 47 
 48 


• Program 3 to include coordination with PG&E and include proactive outreach to 49 


developers of special needs housing; 50 







  


 


               March 27, 2023     4 


• Program 4 to identify a timeline for additional actions should Accessory Dwelling Units 1 


(ADUs) trends not be met; 2 
 3 


• Program 6 a timeline had been added for updating environmental documents; 4 
 5 


• Program 9 details added to ensure program assists all lower and special needs 6 


households and set a goal of 25 households for fee waiver program; 7 
 8 


• Program 11 identified specific emergency shelter standards to comply with state law; 9 
 10 


• Program 12 allowed group homes in the R-Zone and defined group homes, reviewed 11 


and revised the definition of household to ensure clarity, further studied and revised 12 


the parking standards, reduced the level of approval for parking standards from 13 


Conditional Use Permit (CUP) to Administrative Use Permit (AUP), and identified 14 


specific State Law Density Bonus requirements; 15 
 16 


• Program 13 modified to ensure replacement of affordable units per state law (SB 35 17 


and SB 330); 18 
 19 


• Program 15 to include implementation of electronic permitting process by the end of 20 


2023; 21 
 22 


• Program 19 to include two efforts from the Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) regarding 23 


park improvements; and  24 
 25 


• Program 23 to include outreach at no less than two events per year.   26 
 27 


Mr. Wery recommended the Planning Commission adopt the resolution contained in 28 


Attachment A to the March 27, 2023 staff report recommending adoption of the Revised 29 


Housing Element.  Staff was confident HCD would approve the recent revisions and certify 30 


the Housing Element as submitted.   31 


 32 


 PUBLIC HEARING OPENED  33 


 34 


Mr. Hanham reported there were no comments from the public.   35 


 36 


 PUBLIC HEARING CLOSED  37 


 38 


Commissioner Menis reported on ex parté communications and advised that he had sent out 39 


a notice of the Planning Commission public hearing to his email list and had received one 40 


comment back from a resident who suggested it would have been nice if the community as 41 


a whole could have been informed of letters mentioned during City Council hearings.   42 


 43 


Commissioner Kurrent referenced Attachment B, HCD Comment Letter dated March 2, 44 


2023, which referenced correspondence from YIMBY Law, CarLa and 350 Contra Costa.  He 45 


asked whether the parties were part of a lawsuit against the City of Pinole. 46 


 47 


Assistant City Attorney Mog clarified the organizations themselves were not party to the 48 


lawsuit against the City but worked closely with the entity that was in litigation with the City.   49 







  


 


               March 27, 2023     5 


Mr. Wery added that MBI had received the comments referenced late and through HCD.   1 


The comments were premature in that one of the letters spoke to the calculation of the RHNA 2 


and housing production trends, which had been based on old data and had not taken into 3 


account the 600 plus or minus units entitled in the last two years.  Another letter had focused 4 


on an esoteric procedural requirement.  No changes had been proposed to the City’s current 5 


code or processes in response to the comments.   6 


 7 


Commissioner Kurrent suggested MBI and City staff had done a fantastic job and he liked 8 


the responses to HCD.  He asked how many dynamic discussions had occurred with HCD 9 


to make the changes and was informed by Mr. Wery it was really a one-sided discussion 10 


since HCD had made its mind up and generally there was no negotiation with HCD.  He 11 


noted that a track change document had been prepared to identify the comments from HCD 12 


along with the responses to those comments.  The main reasons for the meetings was to 13 


understand what HCD was requesting and he noted that some of the comments from HCD 14 


were common for each individual city.    15 


 16 


Commissioner Benzuly clarified with Assistant City Attorney Mog the timeline process was 17 


standard for Housing Element submittal to HCD and that HCD was stricter in this cycle than 18 


it had been in previous cycles, and comments from HCD were not uncommon.  It was also 19 


clarified that HCD had 60-days to respond to the City’s comments.  Staff and MBI was 20 


confident they had addressed all of HCD’s comments but it was not out of the question that 21 


HCD may raise something new.  Also, there was flexibility for the City to work out the 22 


programs identified although the details needed to be worked out.  23 


 24 


Mr. Wery explained that HCD held a lot of leverage and the recipients of the comments must 25 


do what was required to satisfy HCD.  HCD had accepted most of the City’s programs in its 26 


initial draft with some minor revisions.  He was confident there would not be a lot of change.  27 


The programs had been drafted to forecast what would be done with flexibility on 28 


implementation over the next eight years.   29 


 30 


Commissioner Kurrent commented on his experience with Housing Elements over the years 31 


and noted this was his third cycle with the City of Pinole.  While he found little scrutiny in the 32 


past, there appeared to be more scrutiny with the 6th Cycle Housing Element.  He was 33 


encouraged that some jurisdictions had received HCD compliance and he was confident and 34 


liked the way MBI had responded to some of the comments from HCD, particularly identifying 35 


the City of Pinole as one of the most diverse cities in Contra Costa County.  36 


 37 


Chairperson Moriarty appreciated the work of MBI and City staff and stated the organization 38 


of the information was easy to review.  She had no other general comments at this time.   39 


 40 


Commissioner Kurrent also found the format easy to review and he again applauded the 41 


responses to comments from HCD.  He recommend the inclusion of information related to 42 


concerns with homelessness with the affordable Veterans Housing at 811 San Pablo Avenue 43 


that could potentially be leveraged to address homelessness.  He understood that many 44 


homeless individuals were veterans and having such a facility in the City should be identified 45 


to HCD.  He also liked the references to a UC Berkeley Study that had shown the diversity 46 


of the City of Pinole.  He reiterated that MBI and City staff had done a great job and he had 47 


few comments on the changes made.   48 


 49 


 50 







  


 


               March 27, 2023     6 


Commissioner Banuelos also found that MBI and City staff had done a great job putting the 1 


materials together, although he remained concerned with the state process and the gut 2 


reaction rules that in his view made the process fake.  He questioned what the City of Pinole 3 


would look like in eight years if all units that had been envisioned were built given that the 4 


City already had parking problems, transit was limited and there were a number of pieces 5 


that had not been well thought out.  While he had voted to submit the 6th Cycle Housing 6 


Element previously since he did not want the City to get into trouble absent a certified Housing 7 


Element, he wanted to see how current court cases that were fighting against HCD were 8 


resolved.  He found the City had controlled as much as possible where the proposed 600 9 


units would be built in the City, but he remained concerned how over time additional 10 


development would impact the small Pinole community.   11 


 12 


Commissioner Menis provided extensive comments, many of which were linked to the redline 13 


changes as reflected in Exhibit A:  Revised 2023-2031 Housing Element, as follows:   14 


 15 


- Page 5 of the 6th Cycle Housing Element Update related to the City’s comprehensive 16 


efforts to reach Low and Moderate Income housing individuals to participate in the 17 


Housing Element Update.  He asked about evidence the City had to support the assertion 18 


and whether the City had reached out to specific groups like Pinole Grove Tenants 19 


Association or other Low to Moderate housing tenant groups in Contra Costa County.     20 


 21 


- Pages 9 and 10 of the 6th Cycle Housing Element and the references to public letters that 22 


had been received regarding the Housing Element Update.  He asked when the Planning 23 


Commission had been informed of the existence of the letters during the process and 24 


why the information had not been presented earlier in the process.    25 


 26 


- Page 11, why as part of Program 3 outreach had been added to developers as a new 27 


addition.    28 


 29 


- Page 12, questioned the statement the City had excellent production of Very Low, Low 30 


and Moderate units, in that while Low and Moderate units had been built, the data 31 


supported the production of Very Low income units.   32 


 33 


- Page 12, appreciated the notes as to why developers found Pinole an easy place to 34 


develop and congratulated staff for its collaborative process and ensuring all rules and 35 


regulations were being followed.   36 


 37 


- Page 30, the breakdown of the RHNA into the Extremely Low and Very Low categories 38 


for build out as reflected in Table 3: Pinole RHNA, 2023-2031, and asked whether that 39 


would impact the City’s requirement for build out or whether that was a specific 40 


requirement of the RHNA for those categories.  41 


 42 


- Page 34, Table 7: Racial and Ethnic Composition for Pinole, and commented the set of 43 


Hispanic individuals identifying as White had decreased over the ten-year timeframe, 44 


although the net percentage of Hispanic individuals in the City as a whole had not 45 


changed.   46 


 47 


- Pages 51 and 52, Figure 8:  Average Rent – 2 and 3 Bedroom, had shown an outlier 48 


between the 3 bedroom prices between April and August 2022, and if that outlier had 49 


been accounted for. 50 







  


 


               March 27, 2023     7 


- Page 53, Table 25:  Affordable and Fair Market Rent for Low-Income Households, the 1 


fair market rent for three-bedroom houses relatively matched up with the rent charged in 2 


Pinole from August 2022 onwards but the annual salary required for the fair market rent 3 


was above the average household income in Pinole.   4 


 5 


- Figure 8 on Pages 51 and 52, as previously noted, the two-bedroom rents were the same 6 


cost as the three-bedroom rents from August to December 2022, which was notable as 7 


a trend, with a market spike in two-bedroom rents from April to August 2022.  Two- and 8 


three-bedroom rents were remarkably close together in the actually charged amount 9 


despite the fact they were to be different and staff was asked to clarify that information.   10 


 11 


- Page 56, Table 29, Overpayment by Lower-Income Households, while the City was doing 12 


better than the County, it did not have good numbers for both owner and rental 13 


households, as reflected in the table showing substantial financial stress to lower income 14 


households whether one was an owner or renter.     15 


 16 


- Page 63, Table 34:  Overview of Special Needs Groups, Pinole, data for 2021 had not 17 


been included.     18 


 19 


- Page 69, no data was available for 2021, which could be an issue for HCD.   20 


 21 


- Page 72, the methodology the Police Department used to identify unsheltered homeless 22 


persons should be clarified as to whether it varied from the methodology used by the 23 


County Health Department and whether it contributed to an over-or-under count in 24 


comparison of the metrics.     25 


 26 


- Page 71, Table 42:  Characteristics of Persons Experiencing Homelessness, Contra 27 


Costa County, 2019 included a breakdown of homeless persons including veterans. 28 


 29 


- Pages 76 and 77, Figure 12:  Population with a Disability 2015-2019 should be clarified.   30 


 31 


- Page 95, it was important to note that “…in conversations with developers pursuing 32 


projects in the City, parking was not noted as a constraint on their projects.” 33 


 34 


- Page 96, it was important to note “the City was including multiple programs to review and 35 


reduce parking requirements ...”   36 


 37 


- Page 100, the information related to in-lieu fees was noted and there was concern fees 38 


would be pooled over time, and asked how the net value of funds to build affordable 39 


housing over time would be balanced, which should be clarified.   40 


 41 


- Page 101, Table 60:  Allowed Residential Uses Under the Zoning Code, the zoning 42 


category for RC needed to be defined on Page 100 and should be clarified and staff 43 


clarified RC was defined as Regional Commercial, which had been established as part 44 


of the General Plan process in 2010.  45 


 46 


- Page 105, questioned the reference to the northwestern quadrant of the City as the most 47 


walkable corridor of the City and suggested it would more likely be Old Town.  48 


 49 


 50 







  


 


               March 27, 2023     8 


- Page 111, appreciated the concrete data on permit processing examples but suggested 1 


the data be converted to bar charts with timelines and with a comparison of the timelines.    2 


 3 


- Page 117, Table 65: Planning Related Fees and Regional Fee Comparison, asked 4 


whether some of the columns that were blank meant those jurisdictions did not have 5 


comprehensive design review fees or a comprehensive design review process for the 6 


categories as shown or if it meant staff did not have the data. 7 


 8 


- Page 119, Regional Fee Comparison, as shown, Table 65 had not shown the information 9 


in this section but recognized there were several categories where the data may not be 10 


available to allow a cross comparison.  Suggested the assertions in this section should 11 


include more data or be more specific how the City’s fees were typically lower than the 12 


neighboring jurisdictions.   13 


 14 


Assistant City Attorney Mog stated that staff would not be able to respond to most of the 15 


questions raised by Commissioner Menis at this time.  He suggested it would be helpful to 16 


submit comments in writing to allow staff to provide responses prior to the City Council’s 17 


consideration of the item and staff could possibly incorporate them into the staff presentation 18 


for the City Council.     19 


 20 


Commissioner Banuelos provided an overview how the City’s fees had been developed as 21 


part of the Zoning Ordinance update in 2010, which had been compared to neighboring 22 


jurisdictions at that time.   23 


 24 


Commissioner Menis suggested that was the type of data that could be shown in the chart 25 


earlier referenced to make that comparison that the City was making more accurate since 26 


there was currently a mismatch between statements in the document and the chart.  He 27 


continued his comments as this time.   28 


 29 


- As to AFFH, commented there were several areas in the Draft Housing Element where 30 


staff had attempted to allay differences between regions of the City, the amount of 31 


segregation in the City, and the differences in environmental qualities of the City, and 32 


where he wanted to flag since it could pose a conflict with HCD.   33 


 34 


- Page 140, and the redline language related to AFFH, which read in part: When 35 


evaluating the City for segregation, the City has a moderate dissimilarity index of 36 


31.86, which is just above the threshold of 30.0 for low segregation. Segregation at 37 


the City level is much lower than 47.32 index for Contra Costa County as a whole, he 38 


suggested it should be stated the City of Pinole was in the moderate segregation level.   39 


 40 


- Page 150, Figure 24:  Poverty Status, 2010-2014 and 2015-2019, there was no data for 41 


2020 or later.   42 


 43 


- Page 164, Figure 36: TCAC Composite Score and Page 165, Figure 37:  TCAC 44 


Designation Comparison of RHNA Units, and the information contained therein in the 45 


redline language on Pages 164 and 165, which had shown a significant variance which 46 


no one category would cover.  Expressed concern the City was arguing in bad faith and 47 


strongly objected to the redline language on Pages 164 and 165, as shown.   48 


 49 


 50 







  


 


               March 27, 2023     9 


- Pages 167 through 169, Figure 39:  39: CES Percentile and RHNA Sites, Figure 40; 1 


CalEnviro Screen Percentile Comparison of RHNA Units and Figure 41:  BayREN 2 


Weatherization Participation by Census Tract, 2015-2022, and the redline language as 3 


shown, which had identified resources went to this specific area of the City whereas there 4 


were other areas of the City that were worse off environmentally.  Noted the City planned 5 


to focus its efforts of BayREN in particular, place-based improvements in West Pinole, 6 


but was a broader pattern where resources, availability and power were concentrated in 7 


an area that was more environmentally friendly, had fewer RHNA sites, and more White 8 


people, all of which tended towards potentially AFFH issues.  Found that a lot of the data 9 


points within the document had shown the statements the City was making to address 10 


state concerns could be seen as emphasizing why those were concerns in the first place.   11 


 12 


- Page 240, Program 6, and the redline language which stated:  The City will review and 13 


update as necessary the EIR prepared for the GP and Specific Plan so that individual 14 


projects can utilize opportunities for tiering from environmental documentation and 15 


streamlining provided under CEQA, where applicable, which can reduce duplicative 16 


analyses and streamline environmental review.  The City will begin the review within 17 


3 years of Housing Element adoption and complete it within 6 years of adoption, and 18 


asked whether that was a reasonable period of time for the update.   19 


 20 


- Page 252, and the information as shown for Program 19:  Place-Based Improvements, 21 


noted that there were several parts of the western quadrant of the City which had 22 


several areas that were disadvantaged as compared to Pinole Valley and the eastern 23 


part of the City.  Referenced the fact the Planning Commission had brought up a patch 24 


on San Pablo Avenue on the north side between Roble and Pinon Avenues in the past 25 


where there was no sidewalk and whether an easement could be built, and on San 26 


Pablo Avenue at the north side underneath the Methodist Church there was an 27 


uncontrolled stream that could collapse and block the road outright, which had no 28 


sidewalk.  Suggested Program 19 be modified to create a San Pablo Complete Streets 29 


Project as part of the Place-Based Improvements; and  30 


 31 


- Appendix C, Public Participation, asked whether tenant associations had been 32 


contacted, which tied into the earlier comments about reaching out to those currently 33 


living in affordable housing.  Asked whether the City had reached out to the President 34 


of the Pinole Historical Society with regards to the history of exclusionary zoning and 35 


the patterns of segregation within the City.   36 


 37 


Chairperson Moriarty commended Commissioner Menis’ attention to detail but suggested 38 


his major points got lost in the volume.  She encouraged him to prepare written comments 39 


such as with an Excel spreadsheet or something similar.    40 


 41 


Assistant City Attorney Mog reiterated staff was unable to answer Commissioner Menis’ 42 


questions at this time, but he again hoped staff would be able to incorporate responses 43 


for the City Council, which would consider the item during its April 4, 2023 meeting.   44 


 45 


Mr. Wery suggested some changes could be made but ultimately it was the City Council’s 46 


decision.  Many of the concerns raised were questions and insightful review of the data.  He 47 


acknowledged some of the language could be tweaked.  The City Council could be advised 48 


that it reserved the right to allow staff to make technical changes without changing programs 49 


and policies after the fact to allow adoption without having another round of public review. 50 







  


 


               March 27, 2023     10 


Mr. Wery suggested overall the project was what was needed, and in response to 1 


Commissioner Menis’ concerns with respect to characterization, the language could be 2 


tweaked but the bottom line was what the programs were trying to address regardless of the 3 


characterizations and differences in areas, by encouraging more housing in those areas to 4 


encourage and promote more capital and programmatic improvements in areas that may not 5 


have the same advantages as other areas of the City.   6 


 7 


Commissioner Menis commented that the first time the Draft Housing Element had been 8 


discussed, the sites zoned for affordable housing were not in the Pinole Valley, with one on 9 


the edge of the region as evidenced in Figure 36 on Page 164 and other figures in the 10 


document.  The RHNA sites were almost entirely outside the Pinole Valley zone for the 11 


reasons articulated in the document, but he remained concerned HCD could see that as the 12 


City deliberately not having sites in areas that had historically been more affluent, White, with 13 


higher incomes, areas better off environmentally than other locations in the City, which he 14 


wanted to highlight.   15 


 16 


Mr. Wey explained that HCD pushed its analysis to sites that were more suitable for high 17 


density housing and pushed towards nature preserves, areas further from transit, towards 18 


the highest income communities with the areas of the largest lots and away from services 19 


and employment and there was always that friction, which had been explained to HCD and 20 


which had been made evident in the document.   21 


 22 


Commissioner Kurrent understood Commissioner Menis’ concerns with disparity between 23 


the Pinole Valley and the rest of the City, but Old Town and other areas of the City had been 24 


developed first with more services and different characters.  He found the state recognized 25 


some of the challenges such as with SB 9, which allowed ADUs and denser housing in the 26 


valley. 27 


 28 


Commissioner Menis clarified he was not saying massive apartment towers should be 29 


developed in the valley which would change the character of the area and was away from 30 


transportation.  He reiterated that in prior drafts of the Housing Element there had been sites 31 


in the valley that had been removed for whatever reason but at the same time affordable 32 


housing could be considered for the valley without disrupting its character.   33 


 34 


Commissioner Banuelos noted that Pinole Valley and the bulk of Pinole had been built out 35 


with Old Town having some areas that could be redeveloped and which the City’s Specific 36 


Plan had taken into account.  37 


 38 


Chairperson Moriarty commented she could not find the definition for “household” in the 39 


document, and Mr. Wery explained the definition of “family” or “household” had been read 40 


differently by HCD. 41 


 42 


Shannon Liska, MBI referenced Page 122 of the document, which defined “family” and 43 


“household” as one which does not require a single lease or rental agreement, rather uses 44 


this as an example of one of the characteristics that are indicative of a single household. 45 


However, in order to ensure clarity in the definition of household, as a part of Program 12, 46 


the City will review the definition of family and revise as appropriate to ensure that the 47 


definition does not require nor imply that it requires a single lease or rental agreement. 48 


 49 


 50 







  


 


               March 27, 2023     11 


Chairperson Moriarty appreciated the revision to the number of homeless in the City of 1 


Pinole.  She referenced Page 175, Figure 47:  Overcrowded Households, and clarified the 2 


legend had indicated the blue color in Figure 47 was the Bay, but was actually San Pablo 3 


Bay, which should be corrected.  She also appreciated the inclusion of entitled and 4 


pending projects which had been helpful.  She recognized the community was evolving and 5 


recognized and understood the tension for the City to comply with state requirements, which 6 


was why she appreciated the work of MBI to see that bigger picture and staff for seeing what 7 


that bigger picture was. 8 


 9 


Commissioner Kurrent offered a motion to adopt Resolution 23-01, with Exhibit A:  Revised 10 


2023-2031 Housing Element B:  Notice of Exemption, a Resolution of the Planning 11 


Commission of the City of Pinole Recommending to the City Council Adoption of an 12 


Amendment to the General Plan to adopt revised Housing Element 2023-2031 Update dated 13 


March 24, 2023 and authorize the City Manager to make technical modifications, 14 


refinements, and clarifications (including but not limited to implementation details of the 15 


proposed housing plan programs) to the Housing Element Update without requiring a 16 


subsequent hearing and re-adoption; new goals, policies or programs would require re-17 


adoption, and subject to the revision to Page 175, Figure 47, as articulated by the Chair.   18 


 19 


Commissioner Menis offered to second the motion, with an amendment for staff to take into 20 


consideration the questions made both during the meeting and those submitted before the 21 


document was submitted to the City Council and any revisions that might be made in that 22 


process.   23 


 24 


MOTION to adopt Resolution 23-01, with Exhibit A:  Revised 2023-2031 Housing Element 25 


B:  Notice of Exemption, a Resolution of the Planning Commission of the City of Pinole 26 


Recommending to the City Council Adoption of an Amendment to the General Plan to adopt 27 


revised Housing Element 2023-2031 Update dated March 24, 2023 and authorize the City 28 


Manager to make technical modifications, refinements, and clarifications (including but not 29 


limited to implementation details of the proposed housing plan programs) to the Housing 30 


Element Update without requiring a subsequent hearing and re-adoption; new goals, 31 


policies or programs would require re-adoption and subject to the following: 32 


 33 


• Revision to Page 175, Figure 47, as articulated by the Chair; and  34 


 35 


• Staff to take into consideration the questions made both during the meeting and those 36 


submitted before the document was submitted to the City Council and any revisions 37 


that might be made in that process.   38 


 39 


 MOTION:  Kurrent  SECONDED: Menis             APPROVED:  4-1-1 40 


               NOES:  Banuelos  41 


             ABSENT:  Martinez  42 


 43 


F. OLD BUSINESS:  None  44 


 45 


G. NEW BUSINESS: None  46 


 47 


H. CITY PLANNER’S / COMMISSIONERS’ REPORT   48 


 49 


 50 







  


 


               March 27, 2023     12 


Mr. Hanham reported the Pinole Shores II project would be presented to the Planning 1 


Commission at its second meeting in April.  He also reported that staff continued to work on 2 


the objective development standards, parklet regulations would be presented to the City 3 


Council at its April 4, 2023 meeting, the City Council had received its Annual Progress Report 4 


to be submitted to HCD, and a couple of CUPs would be presented to the Planning 5 


Commission at future meetings.   6 


 7 


Commissioner Kurrent reported the City of San Francisco would be charging $2,000 for 8 


parklets in its jurisdiction and he reported that Sue’s Place parklet was in disarray. 9 


 10 


Mr. Hanham stated that staff was working with the business owner for Sue’s Place on its 11 


temporary outdoor dining permit.   12 


 13 


Assistant City Attorney Mog explained the City Council may set a fee for parklets and 14 


commented on his understanding the fee in the City of San Francisco was actually a 15 


reduction from its current fee.   16 


 17 


Commissioner Menis reported in a private capacity not as a member of the Planning 18 


Commission, he had attended a meeting where the entities in litigation with the City 19 


discussed their work and the issues they had with the City of Pinole.   He made no comments 20 


about the City of Pinole based on direction from the City Attorney’s Office.   21 


 22 


Mr. Hanham clarified the Joint City Council and Planning Commission meeting scheduled for 23 


Tuesday, March 28, 2023 would start at 6:00 p.m., not 7:00 p.m.  24 


 25 


I. COMMUNICATIONS:  None  26 


 27 


J. NEXT MEETING 28 


 29 


The next meeting of the Planning Commission to be a Special Joint City Council and 30 


Planning Commission Meeting scheduled for March 28, 2023 at 6:00 p.m.  31 


 32 


K. ADJOURNMENT:  9:14 p.m.    33 


 34 


 Transcribed by:  35 


 36 


 37 


 Sherri D. Lewis  38 


 Transcriber  39 







Item E1 


 
  


 
TO:   PLANNING COMMISSION MEMBERS 
 
FROM:   David Hanham, Planning Manager 
  
SUBJECT:  CUP23-02 Parking Reduction at 612 Tennent Ave and 600 Tennent Ave/2279 Park St 
 
DATE:   April 24, 2023 


 
 


Property Owners 
 


612 Tennent Avenue 
City of Pinole, under contract to sell to: 
 
Leonard Williams 
599 Kenmore Avenue 
Oakland, CA 94610 
 
600 Tennent Avenue/2279 Park Street 
Baljit Dhaliwal 
1068 Turquoise Drive 
Hercules, CA 94547 


Applicant 
 


Maria Campos 
11110 San Pablo Avenue, #207 
El Cerrito, CA 94530 


File Planning Application PL23-0009 
Conditional Use Permit – CUP 23-02 


Location  612 Tennent Avenue 
600 Tennent Avenue/2279 Park Street 


Assessor Parcel Number(s) 401-142-010 (612 Tennent Avenue) 
401-142-011 (600 Tennent Avenue/2279 Park Street)  


Total Area 612 Tennent Avenue: 0.114 acres/5,000 square feet 
600 Tennent Avenue/2279 Park Street: 0.114 acres/5,000 
square feet 
Total both parcels: 0.229 acres/10,000 square feet 


General Plan Land Use Designation  OTSA, Old Town Sub Area 


Specific Plan Sub-Area OTSA, Old Town Sub-Area - San Pablo Avenue Corridor 


Zoning Classification RMU, Residential Mixed-Use 


Review Authority Conditional Use Permit - Planning Commission – Pinole 
Municipal Code (PMC) Section Table 17.10.060-1 
California Environmental Quality Act Determination – Planning 
Commission – CA Public Resources Code Section 15025 


Memorandum  







STAFF MEMO 
PLANNING COMMISSION 
APRIL 24, 2023,                                                     
PAGE 2 
____________________________________________________________________________________  
 
 
REQUEST 
 
Maria Campos (applicant) is seeking approval of a Conditional Use Permit (see Attachment A) to reduce the 
number of required off-street parking spaces for the properties at 600 Tennent Avenue/2279 Park Street 
and 612 Tennent Avenue by nine spaces in accordance with Section 17.48.060 of the Pinole Municipal Code. 
The Planning Commission has the authority to review and approve the request for a Conditional Use Permit, 
which if approved, would run with the properties. 
 
SITE LOCATION 
 
The two properties are located on the west side of Tennent Avenue north of San Pablo Ave and south of 
Park Street. The property identified as 600 Tennent and 2279 Park Street are on a single lot at the 
intersection of Park Street and Tennent Avenue. The property identified as 612 Tennent Avenue is 
located on the south side of 600 Tennent Avenue. Figure 1 shows the location of 600 Tennent 
Avenue/2279 Park Street and 612 Tennent Avenue. Table 1 identifies the current existing uses located 
adjacent to the project properties. It should be noted that 612 Tennent Avenue is still owned by the City 
but is under contract with Mr. Leonard Williams to purchase the property. 
 
Figure 1. Project Site Location 


 


600 Tennent Avenue/ 


2279 Park Street 


612 Tennent Avenue 







STAFF MEMO 
PLANNING COMMISSION 
APRIL 24, 2023,                                                     
PAGE 3 
____________________________________________________________________________________  
 
 
Table 1. Existing Land Uses in Vicinity 
 


Direction from Project 
Site 


Land Use 


North Park Street, and The Christ the Lord Episcopal Church  


West Existing Residential (Single Family and Duplex) 


South Public Parking lot and AT&T Utility parcel 


East Tennent Avenue, and the Pinole Youth Center, the Community 
Playhouse, and the City’s Recreation Department 


 
PROJECT DESCRIPTION 
 
The properties at 600 Tennent Avenue/2279 Park Street and 612 Tennent Avenue contain existing buildings 
that are being renovated to accommodate new residential units. The property at 600 Tennent/2279 Park will 
be converting a vacant commercial space (which is attached to a single residential unit) into two new 
residential units. The property at 612 Tennent will be converting a vacant mixed-use building (with existing 
vacant commercial on first floor, one vacant residential unit on upper floor) into four new residential units. 
One of the four units will be affordable to households earning under 80% of the County Median Income, per 
the City’s inclusionary housing requirements. 
 
However, limited space on either parcel is available to accommodate required parking for the new units 
based on standard parking ratios. The applicant, representing both property owners, is requesting a 
Conditional Use Permit for reduced off-street parking requirements for the properties at 600 Tennent 
Avenue/2279 Park Street and 612 Tennent Avenue due to the existing physical site constraints at these 
locations. The request consists of reducing the required off-street parking for the proposed new residential 
uses at 600 Tennent Avenue/2279 Park Street by three spaces and at 612 Tennent Avenue by six spaces, for 
a total reduction request of nine spaces. 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
The two subject parcels were properties acquired by the City’s former Redevelopment Agency. After the 
Redevelopment Agency was disbanded in 2012, the City Successor’s Agency was required to sell the 
property. The City sold the 600 Tennent Avenue/2279 Park Street property in 2022. The City has a Purchase 
and Sale Agreement with the anticipated new owners of 612 Tennent Avenue property and anticipates that 
the property will be transferred to new ownership once the entitlement has been received and a building 
permit has been issued. 
 
The property at 600 Tennent Avenue/ 2279 Park Street (APN 401-142-010) contains a single-story former 
restaurant (Blackie’s Restaurant) with an attached single-family residential unit and a two-story detached 
two-car garage with a single residential unit above. The property at 612 Tennent Avenue (APN  401-142-011) 
contains a single two-story structure with a vacant former commercial space on the first floor and a single-
family residential unit on the second floor.  
 
Both properties are located within the Old Town Sub Area of the San Pablo Corridor in the Three Corridors 







STAFF MEMO 
PLANNING COMMISSION 
APRIL 24, 2023,                                                     
PAGE 4 
____________________________________________________________________________________  
 
Specific Plan. Residential Mixed Use (RMU) is the zoning designation for both parcels. Standard parking 
requirements are established in the Pinole Zoning Code under Chapter 17.48.  
 
ANALYSIS  
 
General Plan Consistency  
 
The project site is designated Old Town Sub-Area (OTSA) in the General Plan; it is within the Old Town Sub 
Area of the San Pablo Corridor in the Three Corridors Specific Plan. Per the General Plan, the Old Town Sub-
Area will maintain and enhance the residential, commercial, and mixed-use character, scale, and style of Old 
Town Pinole. All types of commercial and residential uses, as either individual use or in combination with 
other allowable commercial and residential uses, are allowed within this area at intensities that preserve the 
character of Old Town Pinole. The designation is intended to encourage ground-floor, pedestrian-friendly 
retail sales and service uses with upper floors of office and/or residential uses. Commercial activity can 
include a range of retail activity from neighborhood convenience stores and community shopping centers to 
regionally oriented specialty stores and office uses, including administrative, professional, medical, and 
dental offices. Residential uses may include single-family and multi-family residential uses.  
 
The waiver of required off-street parking spaces to support the proposed increase in residential uses would 
meet General Plan Goals and Policies, including the following: 
 
GOAL LU.4: Preserve and strengthen the identity and quality of life of Pinole’s residential neighborhoods. 
 


POLICY LU.4.1 Ensure all new development, renovation or remodeling preserves and strengthens 
Pinole’s residential neighborhoods by requiring projects to be harmoniously designed and 
integrated with the existing neighborhood. 


 
GOAL CC.1: Maintain Pinole’s unique qualities and sense of place to preserve the established historic and 
small-town character of the city. 
 


POLICY CC.1.5 Encourage project compatibility, interdependence, and support with neighboring 
uses, especially between commercial and mixed-use centers and the surrounding residential 
neighborhoods. Uses should relate to one another with pedestrian connections, transit options, 
shared parking, landscaping, public spaces, and the orientation and design of buildings. 


 
GOAL HE.1:  Provide adequate residential sites to accommodate projected housing needs and encourage the 
production of a variety of housing types. 
 


POLICY HE 1.1: Encourage the provision of a variety of housing options for Pinole residents. 
 
GOAL HE 2 Provide a broad range of housing opportunities to meet the needs of all income levels, with 
emphasis on providing housing that meets the special needs of the community. 
 


POLICY HE 2.1: Maintain appropriate land use regulations and other development tools to 
encourage development of affordable housing opportunities throughout the City. 


 







STAFF MEMO 
PLANNING COMMISSION 
APRIL 24, 2023,                                                     
PAGE 5 
____________________________________________________________________________________  
 


POLICY HE 2.3: Continue the use of the inclusionary housing ordinance to facilitate the development 
of below market-rate units. 


 
GOAL HE 3 Reduce or remove governmental constraints to the development, improvement, and 
maintenance of housing where feasible and legally permissible. 
 


POLICY HE 3.1: Periodically review City regulations, ordinances, permitting processes, and 
residential fees to ensure that they do not constrain housing development and are consistent with 
State law. 


 
GOAL SE.8 Utilize transit options and reduce vehicle miles traveled and single-occupancy vehicle use. 
 


POLICY SE.8.6 Establish parking policies and requirements that capture the true costs of private 
vehicle use and support alternative modes of transportation. 


 
Action SE.8.6.2 Consider reducing minimum parking requirements for new development. 


 
Specific Plan Consistency 
The subject properties are located in the Old Town Sub-Area of the Three Corridor Specific Plan. The Old 
Town Sub-Area identifies goals, policies, and objectives to create new residential development, to enhance 
Old Town 


 
LAND USE POLICY 1 Provide for a variety of housing types throughout the plan areas. 


 
LAND USE POLICY 3 Provide affordable housing within the plan areas consistent with the City 
General Plan. 


 
LAND USE POLICY 10 Where possible, preserve and restore historic buildings. 


 
Zoning Ordinance Consistency 
 
The subject properties are located within the Residential Mixed Use (RMU) zoning district. The purpose of 
the RMU District is to designate property for the development of medium- and high-density housing that 
may incorporate office and/or commercial services. While RMU zoning district requires residential 
development (at least a minimum of 51% of total floor area is to be residential), the zoning district 
encourages a mix of use, and does not preclude the vertical and/or horizontal integration of commercial 
and/or office uses that are compatible with residential development. Consistent with the General Plan, the 
RMU Designation allows between 20.1 and 35.0 dwelling units per acre. Lower residential densities may be 
allowed to accommodate special housing needs within this designation. RMU promotes the integration of 
retail and office uses into the edges of neighborhoods with all of the commercial use at the ground floor on 
the street front wherever possible. 
 
The property at 600 Tennent Avenue/ 2279 Park Street (APN 401-142-010) contains a single-story former 
restaurant (Blackie’s Restaurant) with an attached single-family residential unit and a two-story detached 
two-car garage with a single one-bedroom residential unit above. The owner proposes to convert the former 
restaurant space into two residential units. The property at 612 Tennent Avenue (APN  401-142-011) 







STAFF MEMO 
PLANNING COMMISSION 
APRIL 24, 2023,                                                     
PAGE 6 
____________________________________________________________________________________  
 
contains a single two-story structure with a vacant former commercial space on the first floor and a single-
family residential unit on the second floor. The City has agreed to sell the property to an individual who 
proposes to convert the vacant commercial space on the first floor and the residential space on the second 
floor into four residential units. One of the units will be affordable pursuant to the City’s inclusionary 
housing requirements. See Table 2 below. 
 
Table 2: Current and Proposed Uses at Subject Sites 


Address Current Use Proposed Use Net Increase in Residential 
Units 


600 Tennent 
Avenue/ 2279 
Park Street 


Single-story vacant 
restaurant with attached 
single-family home. 
 
Two-story detached one-
car garage with single 
apartment unit above. 


Single-story multifamily 
structure with three 
residential units (two one-
bedroom units and one 
three-bedroom unit) 
 
Two-story detached two-
car garage with single one-
bedroom apartment unit 
above. 
 


Two additional units 


612 Tennent 
Avenue 


Two-story structure with a 
vacant former commercial 
space on the first floor and 
a single-family residential 
unit on the second floor. 
 
Detached one-story two-
car garage. 
 


Two-story structure with 
two residential units on 
the first floor and two 
residential units on the 
second floor. 
 
Detached one-story two-
car garage. 
 


Three additional units 


 
The proposal to create five additional residential units using existing structures on both properties is 
consistent with the underlying uses allowed in the zoning district.  
 
Regarding development standards, as there is no proposed additional increase in square footage, building 
footprint or building envelope, an analysis of development standards for setbacks, height, landscaping, and 
open space are not applicable. Table 3 below shows density and parking as the relevant development 
standards to be analyzed. 







STAFF MEMO 
PLANNING COMMISSION 
APRIL 24, 2023,                                                     
PAGE 7 
____________________________________________________________________________________  
 
 
Table 3: Development Standards 


Development 
Standard 


Code Requirement Existing Proposal Compliance  


600 
Tennent 
Avenue/ 


2279 Park 
Street 


612 Tennent 
Avenue 


600 Tennent 
Avenue/ 


2279 Park 
Street 


612 Tennent 
Avenue 


Density 20.1 dwelling units 
per acre, or “du/ac” 
(minimum)  
 
35.0 du/ac 
(maximum)  
 


Two total 
residential 
units 
 
 
17.4 du/ac 


One total 
residential 
unit 
 
 
8.7 du/ac 


Four total 
residential 
units 
 
 
34.8 du/ac  
 
 


Four total 
residential 
units 
 
 
 34.8 du/ac  
 
 


Yes 


Parking Multiple family 
dwellings: 


• One-bedroom 
units are 1.5 
spaces per unit.  


• Two or more-
bedroom units is 2 
spaces per unit. 


 
1 space is required to 
be covered or 
enclosed and visitor 
parking requirement 
is 0.3 spaces per unit. 
 
600 Tennent Avenue/ 
2279 Park Street 
Code Requirement: 6 
spaces (2 covered/ 
enclosed) 
 
612 Tennent Avenue 
Code Requirements: 
10 spaces (4 
covered/enclosed) 


2 spaces 
total  
 
Both 
covered 
 
 


4 spaces 
total: 
 
2 covered, 2 
uncovered  


3 spaces 
total: 
 
2 covered, 1 
uncovered  
 
 


4 spaces 
total: 
 
2 covered,  
2 uncovered  


No, 
reduction 
requested 
through a 
Conditional 
Use Permit 


 







STAFF MEMO 
PLANNING COMMISSION 
APRIL 24, 2023,                                                     
PAGE 8 
____________________________________________________________________________________  
 
Conditional Use Permit Request  
 
Based on Table 3 above, the applicant is requesting a reduction of nine on-site parking spaces. Section 
17.48.060 of the Pinole Municipal Code allows for the applicant to request a reduction of the parking 
requirement with a Conditional Use Permit. Due to the existing buildings and their location on the lots, there 
is no place to place the additional parking. Also, based on the walkability of the area and close proximity to 
transit and businesses, more residential units in this area would be beneficial.  
 
Specific Plan Requirements 
 
Both parcels are located within the Three Corridors Specific Plan. The Specific Plan’s General Parking 
Standards state that parking requirements are established in the Pinole Municipal Code (PMC Title 17). To 
attract development and enhance the pedestrian environment within the Specific Plan Area, parking 
requirements shall be reduced when one or more of the following conditions exists:1  


1. Shared parking arrangements can demonstrate that peak hour parking demand will not coincide to 
generate demand that is greater than the parking provided. 


2. The property is adequately served by and is in close proximity to frequent transit service.  
3. Transportation characteristics of persons residing, working, or visiting the site are such that they 


reduce parking demand. 
4. A transportation demand management program will reduce parking demand at the site; or  
5. The applicant has provided on-site parking for car share vehicles. 


 
Zoning Ordinance Requirements 
 
The purpose of Chapter 17.48 is to establish regulations in order to provide safe, attractive, and convenient 
parking and ensure that parking areas are compatible with surrounding land uses. A discussion regarding the 
parking waiver request for both subject properties follows. 
 
600 Tennent Avenue/2279 Park Street. The property at 600 Tennent Ave/2279 Park Street contains an 
existing one-story building with vacant restaurant space and an attached residential unit, in addition to a 
two-story detached two-car garage with a one-bedroom accessory unit above. The owner is proposing to 
redevelop the one-story building as a multifamily residential with two one-bedroom units and one three-
bedroom unit. No work is proposed for the two-story garage/apartment structure.  
 
Per Table 17.48.050-1, the standard parking requirement for multiple-family dwellings with one-bedroom 
units is 1.5 spaces per unit for residents; the requirement for two or more-bedroom units is two spaces per 
unit. One of the spaces is required to be covered or enclosed. The visitor parking requirement is 0.3 spaces 
per unit2. Based on the standard parking requirement outlined in the Pinole Municipal Code, the 
redeveloped multifamily structure, with the addition of two one-bedroom units, would result in a total 
requirement of four additional off-street parking spaces (three for residents and one for guests), with one of 
the spaces covered or enclosed.  


 
1 Pursuant to the Three Corridor Specific Plan General Parking Standards page 6.0-9 


22 Pursuant to PMC 17.48.050, when the calculation of the required number of off-street parking spaces results in a 


fraction of a space, the total number of spaces shall be rounded up to the nearest whole number. 


 







STAFF MEMO 
PLANNING COMMISSION 
APRIL 24, 2023,                                                     
PAGE 9 
____________________________________________________________________________________  
 
 
600 Tennant Avenue/2279 Park Street does not have the physical space to provide four additional off-street 
parking spaces. The property will be able to only provide one new uncovered off-street parking space next 
to the building, on the side adjacent to 612 Tennent Avenue (see Attachment B). The applicant is requesting 
a reduction of three parking spaces below the standard requirement due to the existing physical constraints 
on site, and a waiver of the requirement for one of the spaces to be covered or enclosed. See Table 4, 
below. 
 
Table 4: Parking Reduction Request of Applicant (600 Tennant Avenue/2279 Park Street) 


600 Tennant 
Avenue/2279 Park 
Street – Off-Street 


Parking for Remodeled 
Commercial Space 


Uncovered Parking 
Spaces 


Covered Parking 
Spaces 


Total Parking Spaces 


Existing 0 0 0 


Required 2 2 4 


Proposed 1 0 1 


Reduction Requested 1 2 3 


 
612 Tennent Avenue. The property at 612 Tennent Avenue contains an existing two-story building, with a 
vacant former commercial space on the first floor and single residential unit on the second floor. The 
structure is proposed to be redeveloped as a four-unit multifamily residential building with two units having 
two-bedrooms and two units having three-bedrooms. The property also contains a detached single-story 
two-car garage. No work is proposed on the garage at this time. 
 
Per Table 17.48.050-1, the standard parking requirement for multiple family dwellings with two or 
bedrooms is two assigned parking spaces per unit for residents plus 0.3 parking spaces per unit for visitors. 
One of the two spaces per unit must be enclosed or covered.  
 
Based on the parking requirement outlined in the Pinole Municipal Code, the redeveloped four-unit 
multifamily structure, with the retention of one residential unit and the creation of three new residential 
units, is required to provide a total of ten off-street parking spaces (eight for residents and two for guests). 
Four of the eight resident spaces must be enclosed or covered.  
 
There are two on-site enclosed parking spaces in the existing garage and there are two uncovered off-street 
parking spaces elsewhere on the site, for a total of four off-street parking spaces. 612 Tennent Avenue does 
not have the physical space to accommodate an additional six uncovered and two covered/enclosed off-
street parking spaces. The applicant is requesting to reduce the parking requirement by waiving six spaces (2 
covered and 4 regular spaces.) The applicant is requesting a reduction of six parking spaces below the 
standard requirement due to the existing physical constraints on site, and a waiver of the requirement for 
two of the six spaces to be covered or enclosed. See Table 5, below. 







STAFF MEMO 
PLANNING COMMISSION 
APRIL 24, 2023,                                                     
PAGE 10 
____________________________________________________________________________________  
 
Table 5: Parking Reduction Request of Applicant (612 Tennant Avenue) 


612 Tennent – Off-
Street Parking for 
Redeveloped 
Residential Structure 


Uncovered Parking 
Spaces 


Covered Parking Spaces Total Parking Spaces 


Existing  2 2 4 


Required 6 4 10 


Proposed 2 2 4 


Reduction Requested 4 2 6 


 
Parking Reduction Findings 
 
As noted in the descriptions above, the request is for reduction of required parking spaces on two adjacent 
parcels in Old Town Pinole. Section 17.48.060 establishes that Planning Commission may grant a reduction 
in required parking for any use (except for single-family, ADU or two-family dwellings) through approval of a 
Conditional Use Permit. The Commission must find that the project meets all of the Conditional Use Permit 
findings under Section 17.12.140 as well as meet three or more of the criteria under Section 17.48.060(B)(1).  
 
Section 17.48.060 (Parking Waiver Findings). In order to grant a reduction in required parking, the Planning 
Commission must find that the project can be found to meet at least three of the four required criteria in 
PMC Section 17.48.060(B)(1) presented below. The criteria are in italics, followed by staff comments:  
 


a. The use will be adequately served by the proposed parking due to the nature of the proposed 
operation; proximity to frequent transit service; transportation characteristics of persons 
residing, working, or visiting the site; or because the applicant has undertaken a travel demand 
management program that will reduce parking demand at the site. 


 
Staff Response: Based on the site’s proximity to transit and implementation of a travel demand 
management program, the residential uses will be adequately served by the on-site parking proposed, 
as well as off-site parking and transit availability. The subject sites are approximately 0.2 miles (about a 
six-minute walk) from the nearest bus stop at the intersection of San Pablo Avenue and Oak Ridge Road 
and just over a quarter of a mile (about a seven-minute walk) from the bus stops on San Pablo Avenue 
near John Street and Tennent Avenue and near Peach Street. The close proximity to the public parking 
lots along Tennent Avenue near the subject sites also allows for visitors of both properties to park in the 
lots rather than on the sites. As a condition of approval, the applicant will be completing a travel 
demand management program that will reduce demand at the site. Based on the analysis above, the use 
will be adequately served by the proposed parking and the criterion has been met.  
 


b. Parking demand generated by the project will not exceed the capacity of or have a detrimental 
impact on the supply of on-street parking in the surrounding area. 


 
Staff Response: The Old Town Parking and Pedestrian Study, completed in March of 2020 (Attachment 
C),states that the parking in Old Town Pinole is underutilized. The Old Town Study shows that there are 
177 public parking spaces along Tennant Ave from San Pablo Avenue to Buena Vista Drive. Of those 
spaces, 120 spaces are in parking lots that are within walking distance (0.1-mile walk) of 600 Tennent 







STAFF MEMO 
PLANNING COMMISSION 
APRIL 24, 2023,                                                     
PAGE 11 
____________________________________________________________________________________  
 
Avenue/2279 Park Street and 612 Tennent Avenue. There are 57 spaces on street parking within walking 
distance of 600 Tennent Avenue/2279 Park Street and 612 Tennent Avenue. Based on the information 
from the Study, the Old Town area is expected to be able to accommodate the parking demands 
associated with the creation of a net of five additional residential units at the two subject sites (and 
associated reduction of nine parking spaces). Based on the analysis above, the parking demand 
generated by the uses will not have a detrimental impact on on-street parking and the criterion has 
been met.  
 


c. The site plan is consistent with the objectives of the zoning district and incorporates features 
such as unobtrusive off-street parking placed below the ground level of the project with 
commercial uses above or enclosed parking on the ground floor. 


 
Staff Response: The site plans of the existing buildings are consistent with the objectives of the zoning 
district. The two properties contain existing structures, where interior improvements will be made to 
renovate the existing buildings for residential use. Parking is accommodated where possible based on 
the existing footprints of the buildings. Since the subject parcels are established parcels with older, 
existing structures to be retained, the site plans have designed around the existing footprints to 
accommodate off-street parking as feasible. Proposed parking areas meet the objectives of the zoning 
district. The criterion has been met.  
 


d. The applicant has provided on-site parking for car share vehicles via a recorded written 
agreement between the landowner and the city that runs with the land. Agreement shall provide 
for proof of a perpetual agreement with a car share agency to provide at least one (1) car share 
vehicle on-site. 


 
Staff Response: This criterion is not needed to be evaluated since the first three have been met.  
 
Section 17.12.140 (Conditional Use Permit Findings). The proposed reduction in parking for the planned use 
is consistent with the findings for Conditional Use Permit approval, under Section 17.12.140(F)(1). Below are 
required findings in italics, followed by staff comments:  
 


a. The proposed use is consistent with the general plan, any applicable specific plans, and all applicable 
provisions of this title.  


 
Staff Response: The reduction in parking for the two subject parcels is consistent with the General Plan, 
Specific Plan, and all applicable provision of the Zoning Ordinance. This is due to the fact that there is public 
transit within one quarter mile of the subject sites, residents will be able to walk, bike or scoot to services, 
eateries, retail, professional offices, parks, and recreational centers. This finding can be met. 


 
b. The establishment, maintenance, or operation of the use applied for will not, under the 


circumstances of the particular case (location, size, design, and operating characteristics), be 
detrimental to the health, safety, peace, morals, comfort, or general welfare of persons residing or 
working in the neighborhood of such use or to the general welfare of the city. 


 
Staff Response: The approval of a reduction of parking in the subject area of Old Town will not be 
detrimental to the health, safety, peace, morals, comfort, or general welfare of persons residing or working 







STAFF MEMO 
PLANNING COMMISSION 
APRIL 24, 2023,                                                     
PAGE 12 
____________________________________________________________________________________  
 
in the neighborhood or to the general welfare of the city. The 2020 Old Town Parking and Pedestrian Safety 
Study showed that there is enough parking in the area to accommodate for the reduction of nine off-street 
parking spaces at the subject sites. This finding can be met. 


 
c. The site of the proposed use is physically suitable for the type, density, and intensity of the use and 


related structures being proposed.  
 


Staff Response: The parking reduction is suitable for the type, density, and intensity of the related structures 
that are being proposed. This finding can be met. 


 
d. It will not be contrary to the specific intent clauses, development regulations, or performance 


standards established for the zoning district in which it is located. The proposed use and related 
structures are compatible with other land uses, transportation, and service facilities in the vicinity.  


 
Staff Response: The proposed reduction in parking for the planned redeveloped residential structures would 
be compatible with other uses in the vicinity. There are no proposed modifications to the existing structures’ 
footprints or building envelopes.  
 
ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW 
 
The project is exempt from the requirements of the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). The project 
is determined to be categorically exempt from the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) under 
Section 15332 of the CEQA Guidelines because it involves infill development consistent with applicable 
general plan and zoning designation and regulations, occurs on a site of no more than 5 acres surrounded by 
urban uses, has no value as habitat, would not result in significant impacts, and can be served by utilities and 
public services. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
 
Adopt Resolution 23-03 for Conditional Use Permit (CUP) 23-02 conditionally approving the reduction of off-
street parking requirements for 600 Tennent Avenue/2279 Park Street and 612 Tennant Avenue. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
 
A. Draft Resolution 23-03 with Exhibit A: Conditions of Approval 
B. Site Plans of 600 Tennent Avenue/2279 Park Street and 612 Tennent 
C. Old Town Pinole Parking and Pedestrian Safety Study dated March 2020 


 
 







PLANNING COMMISSION RESOLUTION 23-03 
WITH EXHIBIT A: CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 


 
RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF PINOLE, COUNTY OF 
CONTRA COSTA, STATE OF CALIFORNIA, APPROVING A CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT (CUP 
23-02) FOR REDUCTION IN OFF-STREET PARKING LOCATED AT 600 TENNENT AVENUE, 
2279 PARK, AND 612 TENNENT AVENUE (APN 401-142-010 & 11) 
 


WHEREAS, Maria Campos (applicant) filed an application for a Conditional Use Permit 
(CUP 23-02) for the purpose of reducing off-street parking spaces for 600 Tennent and 612 
Tennent Avenue: and 


 
 WHEREAS the properties have a Specific Plan Land Use Designation is Old-Town Mixed 
Use Sub-Area – San Pablo Avenue Corridor and is zoned Old-Town Mixed Use (OTSA), which 
allows for multi-family residential use project; and  
 
 WHEREAS, 600 Tennent is being renovated from a restaurant to two one-bedroom units; 
and 
 
 WHEREAS, 612 Tennent is being renovated from a one residential unit building to a building 
with four two-bedroom units; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Section 17.48.050 (Table 17.48.050-1) states that multi-family units with one-
bedroom requires 1.5 spaces per unit (1 space must be enclosed or covered) plus 0.3 spaces per 
units for visitor parking; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Section 17.48.050 (Table 17.48.050-1) states that multi-family units with two or 
more bedrooms per unit is required two off-street parking spaces per unit (1 space must be 
enclosed or covered) plus 0.3 spaces per units for visitor parking; and 
 
 WHEREAS the off-site parking requirement for 600 Tennent Avenue is four off-street 
parking spaces with two of those spaces covered or enclosed; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the off-site parking requirement for 612 Tennent Avenue is ten off-street 
parking spaces with four of those spaces covered; and 
 
 WHEREAS, 600 Tennent Avenue is requesting to waive three off-street parking spaces; and  
 
 WHEREAS, 612 Tennent Avenue is requesting to waive six off-street parking spaces; and  
 
 WHEREAS, Section 17.48.060 (B), allows for a reduction of off-street parking spaces for 
any use except a single-family dwelling, or two (2)-family dwelling with an approval of a use permit 
approved by the Planning Commission  
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 17.48.060 (B)(1) requires the Planning Commission to find 
that all of the Conditional Use Permit Findings as listed in Section 17.10.140 are met and three out 
of four required circumstances are true; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the project meets the criteria for a Categorical Exemption pursuant to Section 
15303 of the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) Guidelines; and 
 
  


ATTACHMENT A 







 


WHEREAS, the Planning Commission of the City of Pinole has conducted a duly noticed public 
hearing to consider CUP 23-02 on April 24, 2023; and 
 


  WHEREAS, after the close of public hearing, the Planning Commission considered all public 
comments received both before and during the public hearing, the presentation by City staff, the 
staff report, and all other pertinent information regarding the proposed development. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, the Planning Commission hereby finds that: 
 


1. The Planning Commission has considered the full record before it, which may include but is 
not limited to such information as the staff report, testimony by staff and the public, and 
other materials and evidence submitted or provided to it. Furthermore, the recitals set forth 
above are true and correct and are incorporated herein by reference. 
 


2. The proposed reduction of parking spaces for the planned use is consistent with the general 
plan, any applicable specific plans, and all applicable provisions of this title. The reduction in 
parking for the two subject parcels is consistent with the General Plan, Specific Plan, and all 
applicable provision of the Zoning Ordinance. This is due to the fact that there is public 
transit within one quarter mile of the subject sites, residents will be able to walk, bike or 
scoot to services, eateries, retail, professional offices, parks, and recreational centers. 
 


3. The establishment, maintenance, or operation of the reduction of parking spaces for the 
planned use applied for will not, under the circumstances of the particular case (location, 
size, design, and operating characteristics), be detrimental to the health, safety, peace, 
morals, comfort, or general welfare of persons residing or working in the neighborhood of 
such use or to the general welfare of the city. The reduction of parking in this area of Old 
Town will not be detrimental to the health, safety, peace, morals, comfort, or general welfare 
of persons residing or working in the neighborhood of such use or to the general welfare of 
the city. The 2020 Old Town Parking and Pedestrian Safety Study showed that there is 
enough parking for the reduction of nine parking spaces. 
 


4. The site of the proposed use is physically suitable for the type, density, and intensity of the 
use and related structures being proposed. The parking reduction is suitable for the type, 
density and intensity of the related structures that are being proposed. 
 


5. It will not be contrary to the specific intent clauses, development regulations, or performance 
standards established for the zoning district in which it is located. The proposed reduction of 
parking for the planned use and related structures are compatible with other land uses, 
transportation, and service facilities in the vicinity. The proposal would be compatible with 
other service uses on the property and does not propose modifications to structures. The 
proposed reduction in parking for the planned redeveloped residential structures would be 
compatible with other uses in the vicinity. There are no proposed modifications to the 
existing structures’ footprints or building envelopes.  


 
6 The project is exempt from the requirements of the California Environmental Quality Act 


(CEQA). The project is determined to be categorically exempt from the California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) under Section 15332 of the CEQA Guidelines because it 
involves infill development consistent with applicable general plan and zoning designation 
and regulations, occurs on a site of no more than 5 acres surrounded by urban uses, has no 
value as habitat, would not result in significant impacts, and can be served by utilities and 
public services. 


  







 


The Planning Commission also finds that this proposed reduction of parking for the project 
meets the following three circumstances as stated in Section 17.48.060 (B)(1): 
 


a. The use will be adequately served by the proposed parking due to the nature of the 
proposed operation; proximity to frequent transit service; transportation characteristics of 
persons residing, working, or visiting the site; or because the applicant has undertaken a 
travel demand management program that will reduce parking demand at the site. 


b. Parking demand generated by the project will not exceed the capacity of or have a 
detrimental impact on the supply of on-street parking in the surrounding area. 


c. The site plan is consistent with the objectives of the zoning district and incorporates 
features such as unobtrusive off-street parking placed below the ground level of the 
project with commercial uses above or enclosed parking on the ground floor. 


 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the Planning Commission of the City of Pinole: 
   


A. Hereby approves CUP 23-02 to reduce the number of required parking spaces as provided 
in the staff report, and subject to the Conditions of Approval attached as Exhibit A to this 
Resolution. 
  


B. The approval of CUP 23-02 shall expire on April 24, 2024, unless exercised and actual 
construction or alteration as needed under valid permits has begun within said period or a 
written request has been submitted to the City, prior to the expiration date, for an extension 
of time as allowed under the Zoning Ordinance. 


 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Planning Commission of the City of Pinole on this 24th day of 
April 2023, by the following vote: 


                                            
  
 AYES:  
 NOES:  
 ABSTAIN:   
 ABSENT:  


                   
           _________________________________ 


Ann Moriarty, Chair 2022-2023 
                           
ATTEST:  
 
 
________________________________ 
David Hanham, Planning Manager 







 


                           
 


Exhibit A 
PLANNING COMMISSION RESOLUTION 23-03 CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 


 


As Reviewed by Planning Commission                                             1 of 2 Parking Reduction                                                                            
April 24, 2023  Conditional Use Permit (CUP) 23-02 
                                             


 


 
 


 
Timing/ 


Implementation 
 


 
Monitoring 


Department / 
Division 


 
Verification 


(date 
and 


Signature) 


1.  
 


HOLD HARMLESS - The Applicant shall hold harmless the City, its 
Council Members, its Planning Commission, officers, agents, 
employees, and representatives from liability for any award, 
damages, costs and fees incurred by the City and/or awarded to any 
plaintiff in an action challenging the validity of this permit or any 
environmental or other documentation related to approval of this 
permit.  Applicant further agrees to provide a defense for the City in 
any such action. 
 


Ongoing Community 
Development 
Department 


 


2.  SUBSTANTIAL CONFORMANCE - The use shall substantially 
conform to the approved planning application materials.  Any 
modifications of the exterior of the building must be reviewed by the 
Planning Manager who shall determine whether the modification 
requires additional approval of the Planning Commission.   


Ongoing Community 
Development 
Department 


 
 


 


 


3.  BUILDING PERMIT - The applicant shall obtain a building permit for 
any applicable remodel and interior work proposed within the building. 
   
  


Ongoing Community 
Development 
Department 


 


4.  TRAVEL DEMAND MANAGEMENT PLAN – Prior to an issuance of 
occupancy, the applicant shall prepare a travel demand management 
plan program that will reduce parking demand at the site. The travel 
demand management plan shall be reviewed and approved by the 


Ongoing Community 
Development 
Department 


 







 


                           
 


Exhibit A 
PLANNING COMMISSION RESOLUTION 23-03 CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 


 


As Reviewed by Planning Commission                                             2 of 2 Parking Reduction                                                                            
April 24, 2023  Conditional Use Permit (CUP) 23-02 
                                             


 


 
 


 
Timing/ 


Implementation 
 


 
Monitoring 


Department / 
Division 


 
Verification 


(date 
and 


Signature) 


Planning Manager. 


5.  EXERCISE OF ENTITLEMENTS – The applicant has two (2) years to 
exercise the entitlement in accordance with Section 17.10.100.  


Ongoing 
 


Community 
Development 


 


6.  OTHER PERMITS AND LICENSES – The applicant shall secure any 
and all necessary permits and/or licenses for use of the space from 
the City of Pinole and/or regulating agencies. 


Ongoing Community 
Development 
Department 


 


 







PROPOSED FLOOR PLAN ON SITE


1


3'-6"


3'-9"


The information, plans, designs, notes & arrangements shown on this drawing are confidential and may not be reproduced in whole or in part without the written permission of KLC Consulting Engineers , Inc. Drawings noted as Preliminary, Schematic and / or Concept contain information that is conceptual and subject to verification and / or change. The Engineer makes no claim for accuracy of conceptual information or information supplied by others.


CO
NS


UL
TI


NG
 E


NG
IN


EE
RS


, 
IN


C
B


A
L


JI
T


 D
H


A
L


IW
A


L


C
O


N
V


E
R


T
 E


X
IS


T
IN


G
 R


E
ST


A
U


R
A


N
T


 I
N


T
O


A
 D


U
PL


E
X


2279 Park Street


600 Tennent Avenue


ATTACHMENT B



AutoCAD SHX Text

SCALE: 1/4"=1'-0"



AutoCAD SHX Text

INFILL



AutoCAD SHX Text

AREA = 1,075 SF



AutoCAD SHX Text

(E)PORCH



AutoCAD SHX Text

(E)38x80



AutoCAD SHX Text

(E)72x48 SL



AutoCAD SHX Text

(E)30x80



AutoCAD SHX Text

(E)30x80



AutoCAD SHX Text

(E)37x80



AutoCAD SHX Text

(E)54x48 SL



AutoCAD SHX Text

(E)36x80



AutoCAD SHX Text

(E)27x80



AutoCAD SHX Text

CLO



AutoCAD SHX Text

CLO



AutoCAD SHX Text

CLO



AutoCAD SHX Text

(E)72x48 SL



AutoCAD SHX Text

CLO



AutoCAD SHX Text

(E)30x80



AutoCAD SHX Text

(E)30x80



AutoCAD SHX Text

(E)24x24 SL



AutoCAD SHX Text

(E)36x80



AutoCAD SHX Text

(E)LIVING ROOM



AutoCAD SHX Text

(E) DINING RM



AutoCAD SHX Text

(E) KITCHEN



AutoCAD SHX Text

WH



AutoCAD SHX Text

(E)36x80



AutoCAD SHX Text

(E) MASTERS BEDROOM



AutoCAD SHX Text

(E) BEDROOM 2



AutoCAD SHX Text

(E) BEDROOM 1



AutoCAD SHX Text

REF



AutoCAD SHX Text

(E) UTILITY RM



AutoCAD SHX Text

(E) T&B



AutoCAD SHX Text

(N) 36x48 SL



AutoCAD SHX Text

(E)60x48 SL



AutoCAD SHX Text

EGRESS



AutoCAD SHX Text

(E)60x48 SL



AutoCAD SHX Text

EGRESS



AutoCAD SHX Text

(N)28x80



AutoCAD SHX Text

(N)COMMON BATH



AutoCAD SHX Text

SEE NOTE #7



AutoCAD SHX Text

PLUMBING NOTES:



AutoCAD SHX Text

SHOWER HEAD = 1.8 GPM @ 80 PSI



AutoCAD SHX Text

LAVATORY FAUCETS = 1.2 GPM @ 60 PSI



AutoCAD SHX Text

EXISTING (NO WORK)



AutoCAD SHX Text

1 BEDROOM ABOVE



AutoCAD SHX Text

2 CAR GARAGE BELOW



AutoCAD SHX Text

PARAPET WALL



AutoCAD SHX Text

VIF



AutoCAD SHX Text

VIF



AutoCAD SHX Text

(N)32x80



AutoCAD SHX Text

(N)36x36 WDW 



AutoCAD SHX Text

(N)60x60 WDW 



AutoCAD SHX Text

(N)36X36 WDW



AutoCAD SHX Text

TENNENT AVENUE



AutoCAD SHX Text

EGRESS



AutoCAD SHX Text

(E) WALKWAY



AutoCAD SHX Text

(E) WALKWAY



AutoCAD SHX Text

(N) CURB CUT FOR (N) DRIVEWAY



AutoCAD SHX Text

RELOCATE (E) ELECT PANEL



AutoCAD SHX Text

INDICATES (E) WALLS TO BE REMOVED



AutoCAD SHX Text

(E) PERIMETER WALLS



AutoCAD SHX Text

TO REMAIN



AutoCAD SHX Text

(N) COVERED CARPORT



AutoCAD SHX Text

(E) WALL TO REMAIN



AutoCAD SHX Text

(E) WALL TO BE REMOVED



AutoCAD SHX Text

(N) 2x WALL STUDS



AutoCAD SHX Text

PROVIDE (N) 1-HR FR WALL AT THIS SIDE



AutoCAD SHX Text

LEGEND:



AutoCAD SHX Text

(N) 1 HR FR WALL



AutoCAD SHX Text

REF



AutoCAD SHX Text

(N)30x80



AutoCAD SHX Text

DINING



AutoCAD SHX Text

(N)30x80



AutoCAD SHX Text

REF



AutoCAD SHX Text

DINING



AutoCAD SHX Text

(N)32x80



AutoCAD SHX Text

(N)36X36 WDW



AutoCAD SHX Text

(N)60x60 SL WDW 



AutoCAD SHX Text

EGRESS



AutoCAD SHX Text

(N)48x60 SL



AutoCAD SHX Text

(N)48x60 SL



AutoCAD SHX Text

CLO



AutoCAD SHX Text

CLO



AutoCAD SHX Text

TV



AutoCAD SHX Text

TV



AutoCAD SHX Text

(N)36x80



AutoCAD SHX Text

(N)36x80



AutoCAD SHX Text

MAIN ENTRY



AutoCAD SHX Text

PROPOSED FLOOR PLAN ON SITE



AutoCAD SHX Text

PLANNING SUBMITTAL



AutoCAD SHX Text

04/19/21



AutoCAD SHX Text

SHEET NO:



AutoCAD SHX Text

PROJ. NO.



AutoCAD SHX Text

REVISIONS:



AutoCAD SHX Text

SHEET NO:



AutoCAD SHX Text

PROJ. NO.



AutoCAD SHX Text

REVISIONS:



AutoCAD SHX Text

05/12/22



AutoCAD SHX Text

DATE:



AutoCAD SHX Text

SCP



AutoCAD SHX Text

DRAWN:



AutoCAD SHX Text

SCALE:



AutoCAD SHX Text

CHECKED:



AutoCAD SHX Text

RBC



AutoCAD SHX Text

11100 SAN PABLO AVE, SUITE 207, EL CERRITO, CA 94530



AutoCAD SHX Text

TEL.: 510-232-0300 ; FAX: 510-232-0303



AutoCAD SHX Text

http/www//klccea.com



AutoCAD SHX Text

22-1129



AutoCAD SHX Text

PROJECT & OWNER(S):



AutoCAD SHX Text

CONSULTANT



AutoCAD SHX Text

STAMP



AutoCAD SHX Text

A



AutoCAD SHX Text

D



AutoCAD SHX Text

E



AutoCAD SHX Text

L



AutoCAD SHX Text

S 



AutoCAD SHX Text

A



AutoCAD SHX Text

I



AutoCAD SHX Text

R



AutoCAD SHX Text

L



AutoCAD SHX Text

F



AutoCAD SHX Text

I



AutoCAD SHX Text

O 



AutoCAD SHX Text

I



AutoCAD SHX Text

N



AutoCAD SHX Text

I



AutoCAD SHX Text

C



AutoCAD SHX Text

A



AutoCAD SHX Text

C



AutoCAD SHX Text

O 



AutoCAD SHX Text

F 



AutoCAD SHX Text

T 



AutoCAD SHX Text

E 



AutoCAD SHX Text

V



AutoCAD SHX Text

T 



AutoCAD SHX Text

A 



AutoCAD SHX Text

E



AutoCAD SHX Text

T



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

I



AutoCAD SHX Text

E



AutoCAD SHX Text

G



AutoCAD SHX Text

O



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

I



AutoCAD SHX Text

O



AutoCAD SHX Text

P



AutoCAD SHX Text

A



AutoCAD SHX Text

C



AutoCAD SHX Text

M



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

L



AutoCAD SHX Text

N



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

E



AutoCAD SHX Text

F



AutoCAD SHX Text

O



AutoCAD SHX Text

L



AutoCAD SHX Text

B.



AutoCAD SHX Text

R



AutoCAD SHX Text

N



AutoCAD SHX Text

O



AutoCAD SHX Text

D



AutoCAD SHX Text

R



AutoCAD SHX Text

E



AutoCAD SHX Text

A



AutoCAD SHX Text

R



AutoCAD SHX Text

P



AutoCAD SHX Text

R



AutoCAD SHX Text

Exp. 09-30-24



AutoCAD SHX Text

No. 66714



AutoCAD SHX Text

N



AutoCAD SHX Text

I



AutoCAD SHX Text

G



AutoCAD SHX Text

R



AutoCAD SHX Text

E



AutoCAD SHX Text

E



AutoCAD SHX Text

N



AutoCAD SHX Text

SHEET TITLE:



AutoCAD SHX Text

PINOLE, CA 94564



AutoCAD SHX Text

2279 PARK STREET







W
.H.


W
.H.


T
ennent 


 
 A
venue


Site Notes
1.


2.


3.


4.


5.


6.


7.


8.


9.


Lot shall be graded to drain surface runoff shall be 
drained away from proposed structure.


Roof water downspouts shall discharge into landscaped 
area, so that roof water shall flow overland before leaving 
the property. Roof water downspouts shall not be piped 
directly to the street.


Existing soil to be sloped away from the new structure for 
at least 3 - feet.


The grade shall fall a minimum 6 inches within the first 10 
feet per CRC Section R401.3.


All roof drains to be tied into an underground drainage 
system.


All tress shall be 15 gal.


All shrub shall be 5 Gal.


Lot shall be graded to drain surface runoff shall be 
drained away from proposed structure. the grade shall fall 
a minimum 6 inches within the first 10 feet per CRC 
Section R401.3.


There is no landscape area, the lot shall be covered mostly with 
mulch and a few srubs in some areas.Sidewalk7' - 8


"


Property Line


(E) Curb & Gutter


(E) Driveway Curb Cut


30' - 0"


20' - 0"


72' - 7
"


27' - 5
"


61° 00' 00"


100.00'
N


E


29° 00' 00"


50.00'
N


W


29° 00' 00"


50.00'
S


E


61° 00' 00"


100.00'
S


W


(E) Concrete Driveway


3" / 12"


3" / 12"


29' - 4
"


66' - 4
"


4' - 5
"


Upper Level
2' - 8


"


3' - 0"


24' - 6"


22' - 6"


4" / 12"


4" / 12"


0" / 1
2"


(E) Concrete Walkway


Existing Two Level
Parking


Approximate 541.6 SF


Garage:Garage:
Parking:Parking:


Existing Two Level
Mix Use
Approximate 3,005 SF
/Commercial/ Residendial


Main Building:Main Building:


(E) Fence Gate


(E) Concrete Walkway


(N) Electrical Meter, Service shall be
400 AMPs minimum. CEC 225.39.


1 (E) Gas & 3 (N) Gas 
meters, Vertical


N


E


S


W


True North


 1/8" = 1'-0"1 Proposed Site Plan


R


T


O
BER


A. A


R


VEL L
A


D


R
A F T E


R


C


Issues And Revisions:


Scale:
Sheet No.:


Sheet Title


Drawn By :
Project:


Seal


RAA Job No.:


This drawing is a 24" x 36" sheet.  Reductions have modified the referenced scales.


2415 SAN PABLO DAM ROAD, 106 #158
SAN PABLO, CALIFORNIA 94806


Date Printed:


robert_avellar@yahoo.com


As indicated


10/26/2022 1:52:50 AM
C:\Users\Robert\Documents\RAA Designer\Projects\2022\20220622 - 612 Tennent Ave, Pinole, CA\20220622 - 612 Tennent Ave, Pinole, CA.rvt


Propsed Site Plan &
Standard Note


LDW Investments Group
LLC, Leonard D. Williams


A03


20220622 RAA


612 Tennent Ave, Pinole,
CA
612 Tennent Avenue,
Pinole, California 94564,
APN: 401-142-011


4'0 8' 16'


Building Floor Area DATA
Building Unit


Name
Building
Name Floor Use  Phase Level Env Area


Garage
Parking Garage Garage Existing Slab on Grade Interior 541.6 SF
Garage 541.6 SF
Main Building
Strorage Main Building Non-Habitable Existing Level 1 F.F. Interior 56.4 SF
Unit A Main Building Habitable Proposed Level 1 F.F. Interior 670 SF
Unit B Main Building Habitable Proposed Level 1 F.F. Interior 560.8 SF
Unit C Main Building Habitable Proposed Level 2 F.F. Interior 834.6 SF
Unit C Main Building Habitable Proposed Level 1 F.F. Interior 79.7 SF
Unit D Main Building Habitable Proposed Level 2 F.F. Interior 803.5 SF
Main Building 3,005 SF
Grand total 3,546.6 SF


No. Description Date


612 Tennent Avenue







PREPARED FOR THE CITY 
OF PINOLE, CA


BY:


Old Town Pinole 
Parking & Pedestrian 
Safety Study
March 2020


ATTACHMENT C











Chapter 1:  STUDY OVERVIEW


Study Overview .............................................5


Study Area .......................................................6


Study Goals ......................................................8


Outreach and Design Process ................10


Chapter 2:  Existing Conditions 


   Existing Conditions ......................................14  


   Parking Study .................................................16 


   Pedestrian and Cyclist Safety


Analysis ..............................................................20


Outreach............................................................22


Chapter 3:  RECOMMENDATIONS


Recommendations .......................................26


Site Specific Recommendations ...........28 


Old Town Pinole Pedestrian


Improvements Overview Map ................29


Tennent Ave at San Pablo Ave ...............30


Pinole Creek Trail and Pinole Valley Rd 


at San Pablo Ave ...........................................32


Pinole Valley Rd at San Pablo Ave .......34


Pinole Creek Trail Crossing Concept ...36


Bayfront Park ..................................................38


Signage and Wayfinding ...........................40


Conclusion ........................................................42


TABLE OF CONTENTS







1







Study Overview
The primary goals of this study included 
the following:


• Completing a parking study to 
determine parking utilization in 
accordance to the General Plan 
and in response to Old Town Pinole 
business concerns 


• Improving pedestrian safety in 
arriving to their destinations in 
Old Town Pinole, especially from 
underutilized parking lots 


• Increasing connectivity between 
parking and destinations, including 
the Bayfront, and 


• Enhancing Old Town PInole’s unique 
character as both a destination and 
as a pedestrian experience. 


In developing this report, the following 
Plans were referenced: the Contra Costa 
Bicycle Plan (2009), the City of Pinole 
General Plan (2010), and the previous 
Parking Studies conducted in Old Town 
Pinole (2000, 2006, and 2008)


Old Town Pinole offers a vibrant small 
town setting that is still connected to 
the greater Bay Area. It has a unique 
shopping and dining district for both 
residents and visitors. Old Town Pinole 
is located adjacent to the San Pablo Bay 
shoreline at Bayfront Park, connected by 
the Pinole Creek Trail.


Old Town Pinole is close to regional 


connections like Interstate 80 and the 
San Francisco Bay Trail. The Bay Trail is 
a collection of regional multi use trails 
that will encompass the Bay Area and, 
when completed, connect communities 
around the shoreline of the Bay Area 
with 500 miles of recreational trails.


The City of Pinole’s one mile of publicly 
accessible waterfront is along a great 
regional destination: San Pablo Bay. 
Pinole Creek Trail connects Old Town 
Pinole to San Pablo Bay and the San 
Francisco Bay Trail. Highlighting these 
connections and the unique identity 
of Old Town Pinole can enhance the 
experience of residents and visitors alike.


Old Town Pinole is located half a mile 
from these regional destinations. The 
well-used trail passes by the Pinole 
Creek Demonstration Project, which 
restored tidal marsh and riparian 
vegetation and reduced flood risk along 
approximately 1,000 feet of lower Pinole 
Creek. The all-purpose trail is ADA 
accessible, provides creek access points 
and interpretive elements.


Old Town Pinole Parking and Pedestrian Safety Study        5







Study Area
The study area consists of Old Town 
Pinole and nearby Bayfront Park.  Old 
Town Pinole is the City of Pinole’s 
historic commercial and civic district, 
encompassing the blocks around San 
Pablo Avenue from Oak Ridge Road to 
the west to John Street to the east; and 
Plum Street to the south and Fernandez 
Park to the north.  Old Town Pinole 
includes City Hall, the Public Safety 
Building, the Youth Center, historic Bank 
of Pinole Building, the Senior Center, 
the Pinole Community Playhouse, and 
Fernandez Park.  A variety of retail, dining, 
and commercial uses are situated along 
San Pablo Avenue and adjacent blocks.  
Pinole Creek and the paved Pinole Creek 
Trail extend through Old Town.


Bayfront Park is located along San Pablo 
Bay at the end of Tennent Avenue.  The 
park provides access to the shoreline, 
near-by historic landmark Fernandez 
Mansion and to the San Francisco Bay Trail; 
a regional multi-purpose trail encircling 
the bay.  Pinole Creek Trail terminates a 
short distance from Bayfront Park.  


INTERSTATE 80


T
E


N
N


E
N


T
 A


V
E


Pinole Creek Trail


Pinole Creek Trail


Old Town Pinole


SF Bay Trail


Bayfront Park


SAN PABLO BAY


SAN PABLO AVE


6    City of Pinole







OLD TOWN PINOLE PARKING & PEDESTRIAN SAFETY STUDY    PINOLE, CA


PEDESTRIAN EXPERIENCE TELL US HOW YOU STROLL IN  OLD TOWN PINOLE


Improving Old Town Pinole for pedestrians starts with understanding where you want to go and how you get 
there. Study the map and tell us about how you walk around Old Town Pinole.


GREEN dot = where your favorite places to 
walk in Old Town Pinole are.


RED = where you find it challenging to 
walk or cross the street.


MAKING OLD TOWN PINOLE 
MORE PEDESTRIAN FRIENDLY


Making Space for Walking
Clear pedestrian pathway 
with furnishing zone that 
includes lighting and trees 
add to a safe low stress 
pedestrian experience. 


Building in Safety 
Employing an array 
of elements from hi-
vis painted markings 
to extended curbs can 
increase pedestrian safety.


BLUE dot = where you frequently cross the 
street.


YELLOW = where you would like to see a 
new crosswalk in Old Town Pinole.


Fernandez Park


To SF Bay Trail and Pinole 
Waterfront 
(0.5 miles from San Pablo Avenue
along Pinole Creek Trail)


 Interstate 80
(0.6 miles from San Pablo Avenue)


To Bayfront Park and SF Bay Trail
(0.5 miles from San Pablo Avenue
along Tennent Avenue)


Pinole Creek Trail


5 
M


in
ut


e 
W


al
k 


Fr
om


 S
an


 P
ab


lo
 A


ve
nu


e 
an


d 
Te


nn
en


t A
venue


SAN PABLO AVE 


T
E


N
N


E
N


T
 A


V
E


Q
U


IN
A


N
 S


T


JO
H


N
 S


T


P
IN


O
LE


 V
A


LLE
Y


 R
D


RAFAELA ST


CHARLES AVE


F
E


R
N


A
N


D
E


Z
 A


V
E


PEAR ST


PLUM ST


The size of Old Town Pinole is conducive to an accessible pedestrian experience as many destinations 
are within a comfortable walking distance. Parking in Old Town Pinole is underutilized and inefficiently 
spread across the district. Parking is in higher demand closer to the destinations that Old Town Pinole 
boasts while parking that is farther away is underutilized. Improvements to the pedestrian experience 
can encourage better connections between available parking and visitor’s destinations. This study found 
that existing available parking in Old Town Pinole is inefficiently utilized.


Old Town Pinole Parking and Pedestrian Safety Study        7







Study Goals 


•   Utilize parking more effectively. 
Parking in Old Town Pinole is 
underutilized. With a more robust 
wayfinding system to guide drivers 
to parking lots, public parking spaces 
can be utilized more effectively. 
Pedestrian wayfinding improvements 
would further connect people to 
destinations from available parking.


•   Improve pedestrian safety. An 
incomplete wayfinding system, 
difficult crossings, and obstructed 
pedestrian facilities present a barrier 
to a vibrant pedestrian experience 
in Old Town Pinole. Implementing 
complete streets principles aimed at 
increasing pedestrian safety would 
address safety concerns. 


•   Improve connections. Improvements 
to the pedestrian experience can 
encourage better connections 
between available parking, and 
visitor’s destinations throughout Old 
Town Pinole. Additionally, this would 
enhance the connection between 
Old Town Pinole and the SF Bay Trail. 
When completed, the Bay Trail will 
connect communities around the 
Bay Area with a multi-use path for 
pedestrians and bicyclists to enjoy. It 
is vital that there are safe, convenient, 
and comfortable pedestrian 
connections for all visitors.


•   Old Town Character. Fostering the 
small town design elements that make 
Old Town Pinole unique will enhance 
the experience of those walking 
in Old Town Pinole. Elements like 
wayfinding and informative signage  
and well-placed street trees would 
help create a more pleasant walking 
experience.


Guiding Principles 
from Complete 
Streets
The process to develop 
recommendations for Old Town Pinole 
was informed by complete street 
principles that are intended to create 
a safe and inviting space for all users.  
These include:


•   Safety. Balance the safety needs of 
all users and ability levels, including 
pedestrians, bicyclists, transit-riders, 
and drivers. Add additional lighting 
in key areas such as along the Pinole 
Creek Trail


•   Comfort. Create a comfortable 
space for pedestrians to create a 
more pleasant walking experience 
in Old Town Pinole. This includes 
adding pedestrian scale lighting and 
streetscape amenities, increasing 
pedestrian lead times at crossings, 
as well as expanding sidewalk areas, 
reducing crossing distances, and 
installing a complete wayfinding 
system.  


•   Convenience. Make walking easier 
by improving the connectivity of 
the pedestrian facility network by 
creating safer crossings, especially 
along the Pinole Creek Trail and 
improving connections to regional 
attractions like the Bay Trail and 
Bayfront Park. Employ pedestrian 
oriented wayfinding to encourage 
walking and install bicycle parking 
throughout the district and close to 
destinations to make the area more 
accessible to bicyclists.


8    City of Pinole







Curb extensions visually and physically 
narrow the roadway, creating safer and 
shorter crossings for pedestrians.


Narrower travel lanes help promote 
slower speeds and reduce crash severity. 


Wide sidewalks allow for a comfortable 
pedestrian experience for all ages where 
two people can walk side-by-side.


Street trees provide shade, reduce air 
pollution and positively impact mental 
health.


Old Town Pinole Parking and Pedestrian Safety Study        9







Outreach and 
Design Process
The data gathering and public outreach 
performed for this study helped inform 
the City of Pinole’s recommendations to 
address goals of this study. The process 
was comprised of three chapters: Study 
Kick Off Meeting, the Parking Study, and 
an Open House. 


• Kick Off Meeting. At the study 
kick off meeting, the City of Pinole 
identified areas of concern to be 
addressed through this study’s 
recommendations.


• Parking Study. A consultant team 
analyzed parking trends, including 
demand, within Old Town Pinole. 
This data informed Pinole staff on 
the distribution of parking demand 
within Old Town Pinole.


• Open House. The public provided 
input and feedback on developed 
recommendations at the Open 
House, as well as parking and 
transportation habits and needs in 
Old Town Pinole.


10    City of Pinole







Saranac Lake


Leave No TraceWalk Left Ride Right


Sponsored By: Insert Name Here


Lake Flower (.3 miles)
5 min 
2 min      


City Hall (.3 miles)
5 min 
2 min      


Mt. Baker (.3 miles)
5 min 
2 min      


Downtown (.3 miles)
5 min 
2 min      


Note: Sponsorship Line can �t approx. 48 characters (including spaces).


27”


42”


A


3


NOTES


1. Extend sidewalk to the intersection to
remove gap


2. Reduced corner radius


3. Curb extension


4. High-Vis crossing markings


5. Street trees and planting


6. On street parking


7. Consolidate additional driveways


1


2


3


4


5


6


00 40' 80'
1


2


4


5


5


5


5


6


SAN PABLO AVE AT TENNENT AVE


7


7


7


A


3


3


3


Wayfinding helps direct users to 
destinations and can encourage active 
modes of travel.


Pedestrian Network Improvements are 
improvements that expand pedestrian 
access to destinations.


Crossing Improvements are geared towards making intersections safer for all users. 
Crossing Improvements can include treatments like reducing the crossing distance, as 
well as installing crosswalks and curb extensions.


Old Town Pinole Parking and Pedestrian Safety Study        11







2







Existing Conditions
The existing conditions investigation 
phase of this study was an important 
part of the development of the 
recomended pedestrian priority 
improvements. Hearing from the 
community and stakeholders on 
potential issues and concerns in Old 
Town Pinole informed the design 
goals. Conducting a parking study and 
comparing it to historical parking data 
shed light on how visitors behave in 
Old Town. Finally, reviewing pedestrian 
and bicyclist crash data with vehicles 
prioritized locations for improvements. 


Old Town Pinole Parking and Pedestrian Safety Study        13







Existing Conditions
Old Town Pinole is bisected by San 
Pablo Avenue, a regional north-south 
corridor connecting communities in 
the East Bay from Crockett to Oakland. 
Within Old Town Pinole San Pablo 
Avenue has two travel lanes in each 
direction and parking on both sides of 
the street that is free for one or two 
hours. Through Old Town Pinole San 
Pablo Avenue is signed as a Bike Route 
(Class III shared facility) and as part 
of the I-80 Bikeway. Pedestrian curb 
extensions are present at three existing 
intersections along San Pablo Avenue 
to increase visibility and reduce the 
crossing distances. Examples of curb 
extensions exist at the intersections 
along San Pablo Avenue and Quinnan 
Street, Tennent Avenue, and Fernandez 
Avenue. 6’-8’ wide sidewalks are present 
along both sides of San Pablo Avenue. 
However, they are frequently interrupted 
by obstacles like signs posts, utility 
poles and boxes, and driveways to local 
businesses. 


Old Town Pinole is adjacent to Bayfront 
Park and a segment of the Bay Trail. 
Currently, connections to these regional 
attractions can be challenging for 
pedestrians and bicyclists. Improving 
these connections will ease the flow of 
circulation for Pinole and neighboring 
communities.


Existing Challenges and 
Opportunities
•   Underutilized parking spaces leads to 


an inefficient distribution of parking 
demand. 


•   Uncomfortably wide and exposed 
crossings for pedestrians present 
barriers in the existing pedestrian 
network and are cause for jaywalking, 
endangering pedestrians and drivers. 


•   Improving connections to the Bay 
Trail will unlock greater connectivity 
to the greater Bay Area.


•   Gaps in the existing wayfinding 
system make Old Town Pinole 
less easy to navigate, as a driver, a 
pedestrian and as a bicyclist.


14    City of Pinole







Wide crossings across San Pablo Avenue 
can create uncomfortable walking 
experiences.


The existing pedestrian network is 
frequently interrupted by driveways 
or narrowed due to utility poles in the 
sidewalk zone.


Improving trail connections along San 
Pablo will increase the connectivity for a 
low stress multi-use network in Pinole.


An incomplete wayfinding system 
can present barriers to visitors and 
residents navigating Old Town Pinole. 
Existing wayfinding signage is not easily 
recognizable to drivers passing on San 
Pablo Avenue.


Old Town Pinole Parking and Pedestrian Safety Study        15







Parking Study
As a part of this study, a consultant 
team analyzed trends in parking 
demand in Old Town Pinole and the 
findings were compared to previous 
parking study findings completed in the 
following years 2000, 2006, and 2008. 


Old Town Pinole has 13 off-street public 
parking lots, with a total of 453 available 
parking spaces. The district also has 415 
available on-street parking spaces.


The compiled data showed that parking 
in Old Town Pinole, as a whole, is 
underutilized. 


Main Takeaways
•   A majority of those observed parking 


in Old Town Pinole did so for fewer 
than 4 hours.


•   A 4 parking lots and 4 blocks of on-
street public parking approach, or 
exceed, their capacities and are over 
utilized. These are primarily located 
in the central and southwestern 
portions of Old Town Pinole. During 
high demand times, typical driver 
behavior may include drivers circling 
these areas looking for parking, which 
might increase congestion.


•   9 parking lots and 7 blocks of 
on-street public parking are  
underutilized. These are primarily 
located in the northern and 
southeastern portions of Old Town 
Pinole. 


0%


10%


20%


30%


40%


50%


60%


70%


80%


90%


100%


0-1 1-2 2-3 3-4 4-5 5-6 6-7 7-8 8-9


0%


10%


20%


30%


40%


50%


60%


70%


80%


90%


100%


0-1 1-2 2-3 3-4


Weekend Parking Duration


Weekday Parking Duration


Off Street On Street Total


Total Hours


Off Street On Street Total


Total Hours


•   Developing a complete wayfinding 
system that includes wayfinding to 
on-street parking and public parking 
lots may guide drivers from the over-
utilized parking to help distribute 
parking more efficiently.


16    City of Pinole







Parking Utilization in Old Town Pinole


Pinole Creek


55
Spaces


45 (81% Capacity)


19 (34% Capacity)


Block 7


41
Spaces


29 (70% Capacity)


38 (92% Capacity)


Block 8


44
Spaces


16 (36% Capacity)


18 (63% Capacity)


Block 10


44
Spaces


26 (59% Capacity)


26 (59% Capacity)


Block 11


36
Spaces


13 (36% Capacity)


18 (50% Capacity)


Block 9


57
Spaces


17 (29% Capacity)


13 (22% Capacity)


Block 1


41
Spaces


24 (58% Capacity)


26 (63% Capacity)


Block 2


15
Spaces


10 (66% Capacity)


7 (46% Capacity)


Block 4


36
Spaces


23 (63% Capacity)


18 (50% Capacity)


Block 3


28
Spaces


24 (85% Capacity)


21 (75% Capacity)


Block 5


18
Spaces


14 (77% Capacity)


11 (61% Capacity)


Block 6
23


Spaces
17 (74% Capacity)


2 (8% Capacity)


Lot 9


64
Spaces


48 (75% Capacity)


0 (0% Capacity)


Lot 10


70
Spaces


61 (87% Capacity)


68 (97% Capacity)


Lot 1


14
Spaces


15 (107% Capacity)


12 (80% Capacity)


Lot 2


17
Spaces


15 (88% Capacity)


5 (33% Capacity)


Lot 3


17
Spaces11 (100% Capacity)


6 (54% Capacity)


Lot 4


42
Spaces


34 (81% Capacity)


38 (90% Capacity)


Lot 5


50
Spaces


27 (54% Capacity)


31 (62% Capacity)


Lot 7


35
Spaces


25 (71% Capacity)


31 (88% Capacity)


Lot 6


7
Spaces


5 (71% Capacity)


4 (57% Capacity)


Lot 8


63
Spaces


52 (82% Capacity)


23 (36% Capacity)


Lot 11


6 (27% Capacity)


2 (8% Capacity)


Lot 12
22


Spaces 35
Spaces


30 (86% Capacity)
21 (60% Capacity)


Lot 13


RAFA
ELA ST


JOHN ST


P
IN


O
LE


 V
A


LL
E


Y
 R


D


FERN
A


N
D


EZ AV
E


CHARLES AVE


TEN
N


EN
T AV


E


Q
U


IN
A


N
 ST


SAN PA
BLO


 A
VE 


PEAR ST


PLUM ST


PARK ST


Fernandez
Park


Old Town Pinole 
Parking District


Parking Lot


Weekday Peak Occupancy


Weekend Peak Occupancy


On-Street Parking
Block NumberTotal


Number
of Parking


Spaces


O�-Street Parking 
Lot Number


Weekday Peak Occupancy


Weekend Peak Occupancy


Total Number 
of Parking 


Spaces


0 100
Feet


Street Parking 
Included in Study


200


As a part of this study, parking demand was recorded and evaluated on September 
26th from 7am - 5pm and September 28th from 3pm - 8pm. Below is a map of the 
recorded parking demand on these dates, as well as the parking capacities for each 
block with on-street public parking and every public off-street parking lot. Analyzing the 
peak occupancies at these locations produced a better understanding of the parking 
demand at each parking lot or block. On-street parking blocks within the commercial 
areas should be prioritized for increasing commercial parking. These blocks include: 1, 
3, 4, 5, 7, 8, and 10.


Old Town Pinole Parking and Pedestrian Safety Study        17







Lot Street Address
Number of 


Spaces
Weekday 


Peak
Weekday 


Peak Time
Weekend 


Peak
Weekend 
Peak Time


1 2180 Prune Street 70 61 (87%) 12pm 68 (97%) 7pm


2 Right of 2101 Pear Street 14 15 (107%) 8am 12 (85%) 5pm


3 2169 Pear Street 17 15 (88%) 10am-
12pm, 1pm 5 (29%) 3-5pm, 


6-8pm


4 836 Tennent Avenue 17 11 (65%) 10am 6 (35%) 3pm, 5pm


5 2372 Pear Street 42 34 (81%) 1pm 38 (90%) 7pm


6 2401 San Pablo Avenue 35 25 (71%) 7am 31 (89%) 7pm


7 813 Fernandez Avenue 50 27 (54%) 1pm 31 (62%) 6pm


8 2548 San Pablo Avenue 7 5 (71%) 3pm 4 (57%) 4pm, 7pm


9 2560 Charles Avenue 23 17 (74%) 12pm 2 (8%) 6pm


10 2518 Charles Avenue 64 48 (75%) 9am 0 -


11 648 Tennent Avenue 63 52 (83%) 12pm 23 (37%) 4pm


12 592 Tennent Avenue 22 6 (27%) 11am 2 (9%) 3pm


13 635 Tennent Avenue 35 30 (86%) 11am 21 (60%) 6pm


TOTAL 442


Off-Street Parking in Old Town Pinole


18    City of Pinole







On-Street Parking in Old Town Pinole


Block Blocks included From To
Number 


of 
Spaces


Weekday 
Peak


Weekend 
Peak


1 East and West sides of 
Tennent Avenue


San Pablo 
Avenue


Buena Vista 
Drive 57 17 12


2


North and South sides of 
Park Street; and East and 


West sides of Quinnan 
Street


Beginning of 
Street; and 
Park Street


End of Street;  
and San 


Pablo Avenue
41 24 26


3 All sides of Charles        
Avenue


San Pablo 
Avenue


San Pablo 
Avenue 36 23 18


4 North and South sides of 
San Pablo Avenue


Tennent     
Avenue Oak Ridge 15 10 7


5 North and South sides of 
San Pablo Avenue


Tennent     
Avenue


Pinole Valley 
Road 28 24 21


6 North and South sides of 
San Pablo Avenue


Pinole Valley 
Road John Street 18 14 11


7 North and South sides of 
Pear Street Oak Ridge Fernandez 


Avenue 55 45 19


8 North and South sides of 
Plum Street


Beginning of 
Street End of Street 41 29 38


9 East and West sides of 
Tennent Avenue


San Pablo 
Avenue Prune Street 36 13 18


10 East and West sides of 
Fernandez Avenue


San Pablo 
Avenue Prune Street 44 16 18


11


East and West sides 
of Pinole Valley Road; 


North and South sides of         
Rafaela St; and East and 


West sides of John Street


San Pablo   
Avenue; 


Beginning of 
Street; and 
San Pablo 


Avenue


Samuel 
Street; End 


of Street; and 
Samuel Street


44 26 26


Old Town Pinole Parking and Pedestrian Safety Study        19







Pedestrian and 
Cyclist Safety 
Analysis
As a part of this study, collisions from 
the years of 2014 - 2018 involving 
vehicles and either pedestrians or 
bicyclists within Old Town Pinole were 
studied. 


During the study period, three 
pedestrians and two bicyclists were 
injured in Old Town Pinole. Three of 
the five collisions involving bicyclists or 
pedestrians occurred along San Pablo 
Avenue or on the approach to the 
intersection of San Pablo on Tennent 
Avenue. Both of these streets lack 
bicycle facilities.


Of the three collisions involving 
pedestrians, two of the collisions 
involved pedestrians crossing at 
crosswalks. One of these collisions 
occurred at Tennent Avenue and San 
Pablo Avenue, a signalized crossing, 
while the other occurred at Tennent 
Avenue and Pear Street, an un-
signalized crossing. The third collision 
at Oak Ridge Road and Pear Street 
involved a pedestrian crossing not in a 
crosswalk. Both of the bicyclist collisions 
that occurred during this time period 
occurred on streets without bicycle 
facilities.


Of the five total crashes involving 
pedestrians or bicyclists, four of these 
occurred during daylight hours. Four of 
the five crashes happened on a weekday.


Slowing Traffic Means Saving 
Lives
When traffic is slowed, fewer collisions 
happen and the severity of the collisions 
is reduced. Pedestrians and bicyclists 
are more vulnerable to collisions than 
their vehicular counterparts. Pedestrians 
involved in collisions with drivers going 
40 miles per hour only have a 10% 
chance of surviving the collision, while 
pedestrians involved in collisions with 
drivers going 20 miles per hour have a 
90% chance of survival.


20    City of Pinole







Collisions Involving Drivers and Bicyclists 
or Pedestrians (2014 - 2018)


Old Town Pinole Parking and Pedestrian Safety Study        21







Outreach 
The outreach process for this study 
allowed for public input to guide the 
recommendations of this study.


To support this effort, the City held an 
Open House on November 6, 2019 from 
3pm-7pm. The City of Pinole mailed 
and distributed 178 fliers to residents 
and businesses within Old Town Pinole 
to advertise the event. The event flyer 
was advertised on the City website and 
City Hall Community Board. The Open 
House included interactive displays of 
this study’s recommendations, parking 
analysis, and collision analysis. The 
outreach event also included a “Walk 
and Talk” program that took participants 
along San Pablo Avenue and Tennent 
Avenue. During this activity participants 
observed the exiting conditions in Old 
Town Pinole, identified specific concerns 
and discussed possible solutions. 


During the Open House, the 12 event 
participants identified specific areas of 
concern, as well as general themes that 
should be incorporated to address the 
goals of this study.


More general areas of concern 
highlighted during the outreach process  
included the need to prioritize trail 
crossing facilities, creating a continuous 
pedestrian experience, slowing traffic 
speeds, reducing traffic noise, attracting 
visitors, installing new placemaking 
elements, planting street trees, fostering 
Old Town Pinole’s Main Street character, 
adding additional lighting in key areas 
such as along the Pinole Creek Trail and 
installing more public art in Old Town 
Pinole. Art installations that should 
be considered include decorative 
installations for welcoming visitors to 
Old Town Pinole, painted utility boxes, 
and murals along the Pinole Creek Trail.


A specific area to be addressed 
identified through the public outreach 
process was the crossing for Pinole 
Valley Road across San Pablo Avenue. 
Pedestrians crossing San Pablo 
Avenue find this intersection difficult 
due to the congestion caused by 
drivers attempting to turn right at this 
intersection.


22    City of Pinole







The public was asked to comment and provide feedback on the walking and parking 
experience in Old Town Pinole during the outreach process for this study. 


During a Walk and Talk, participants 
were invited to provide input on 
how to create a safer, more walkable 
environment in Old Town Pinole.


An event participant studies the results 
of the parking study at the Open House.


Old Town Pinole Parking and Pedestrian Safety Study        23







3







Recommendations were developed 
to address the goals of this study. The 
goals include utilizing parking more 
efficiently, improving pedestrian safety, 
increasing connectivity, and enhancing 
Old Town Pinole’s character. The 
recommendations incorporated the 
data gathered through public input, the 
collision analysis, and the parking study 
to meet these goals.


The recommendations are based on 
current best practices to address the 
concerns that were identified as a 
part of this study. The following pages 
describe potential treatments that 
promote the goals of this study as 
described. 


Recommendations


Old Town Pinole Parking and Pedestrian Safety Study        25







Recommendations
Employing the data gathered through 
the community input process, the 
collision analysis, and the parking study, 
recommendations were developed to 
address the study’s primary goals. 


Utilizing Parking More Efficiently 
Improving the display and 
communication of information to 
visitors of Old Town Pinole will facilitate 
a greater ease of access for all users. 
Creating clear and recognizable 
signage for public parking surface 
lots will allow drivers to better utilize 
open parking. Employing signage and 
wayfinding features that are designed 
for pedestrians and trail users will help 
connect visitors to destinations through 
the area including between parking 
and destinations and Old Town and the 
shoreline. By directing traffic between 
lots through signage and wayfinding, 
Old Town Pinole’s parking system 
can become more cohesive and more 
efficiently utilized.


Pedestrian Safety 
Improvements to increase the visibility 
of pedestrians will increase the safety 
of all road users. Relevant treatments 
include removing the slip lane on San 
Pablo Avenue at Tennent Avenue, 
installing high visibility crosswalks, curb 
extensions, and reducing turn radii.


A crucial benefit of these improvements 
is to slow drivers down and increase 
pedestrian visibility, key themes 
identified through the public outreach 


process. Reducing drivers’ speeds has 
been proven to be one of the most 
effective countermeasures at reducing 
the number of collisions and the severity 
of those that do occur.


Connectivity
The need to improve trail connections 
and the ease of navigation in Old Town 
Pinole was identified during the public 
outreach process. Implementing a 
standardized and cohesive wayfinding 
system for pedestrians and drivers 
seeking parking will improve the 
convenience of navigation. 


Improving connections to the Pinole 
Creek Trail, a commonly identified need 
from the received public input, will make 
it easier to navigate Old Town Pinole 
on a low stress network of pedestrian 
facilities. Increasing the connections 
of these facilities will also improve the 
connection to Old Town Pinole to the 
greater Bay Area through the Bay Trail.  


Old Town Pinole Character and 
Walking Experience
Many improvements will foster a more 
pleasant and comfortable walking 
experience in Old Town Pinole. They will 
also aid the small town character and 
placemaking that Pinole residents value. 


Improvements to increase the comfort 
of the pedestrian experience in Old 
Town Pinole include street trees, planted 
medians, supporting Pinole Artisans 
by partnering with local artists to paint 
utility boxes in Old Town Pinole, and 
installing pedestrian scale lighting, bike 
parking, and street furniture.


26    City of Pinole







Curb extensions reduce crossing 
distances and help make pedestrians 
more visible. They also provide space for 
plantings.


Shorter turn radii at corners shorten the 
crossing distance for pedestrians and 
require vehicles to turn more slowly.


High visibility crosswalks use marking 
patterns that are easier to spot to make 
pedestrians more visible to drivers. 
These should be paired with advanced 
warning markings and signage to better 
notify drivers.


Pedestrian refuge islands provide a 
protected waiting space for pedestrians.


Pedestrian scale lighting provides a 
sense of comfort and safety and makes 
navigating areas easier at night.


Street trees create a more pleasant 
walking experience while also playing 
an important role in reducing driving 
speeds.


Typical Treatments


Old Town Pinole Parking and Pedestrian Safety Study        27







B
33


2
34


A
31


FERNANDEZ
PARK


PINOLE
SENIOR
CENTER


St. JOSEPH
CHURCH


CHURCH OF
CHRIST


POST
OFFICE


CITY
HALL


PINOLE UNITED
METHODIST


CHURCH


PI
N


O
LE


 C
R


EE
K


PINOLE
YOUTH


CENTER


PUBLIC SAFETY
BUILDING


PARK VIEW
PLAZA


BANK OF
PINOLE


P
IN


O
LE


 C
R


E
E


K
 T


R
A


IL
PI


NOLE
 C


REE
K 


TR
AI


L


St. JOSEPH
SCHOOL


Priority Pedestrian Improvements


1. Tennent at San Pablo (pg.30)


2. Pinole Creek Trail at San Pablo (pg.32)


3. Pinole Valley at San Pablo (pg.32)


4. Bay Front Park (pg.38)


A


B


C


D


00 100' 200'


2


2


2


2


2


2


2


3


4


4


4
4 4


4


4 4


4


4


5


5


5


6


7


A


104


4


9


NOTES


1. Remove Slip Lane


2. Leading Pedestrian Interval


3. Street trees


4. Curb Extension


5. High Vis Crossing Markings


6. Pinole Creek Trail Crossing


7. Extend Sidewalk, Relocate Parking


8. Extend Sidewalk, Remove Driveway


9. Extend Sidewalk, Relocate Driveway


10. Formalize Intersection


11. Wayfinding directing pedestrians to
crossing at San Pablo


1


2


3


4


5


6


7


8


9


10


a
Legend
· Existing Bus Stop


· Existing Surface Parking Lot


· Recommend pedestrian wayfinding at
all public parking, OTP intersections
and along the Pinole Creek Trail
directing visitors to key Old Town
destinations


Install standard parking signage on
approach streets and at lots for easier
identification


A


B
C


D


11


11


A


A


A


A


A


A


A


A


A


A


A


A


A
A


AA


A


A


3


3


3


8


BAYFRONT PARK
SF BAY TRAIL


FERNANDEZ MANSION


1


     Removing Slip Lanes
Slip lanes encourage faster turning 
speeds, endangering pedestrians 
at the crossing. 


     Leading Pedestrian Intervals
Leading Pedestrian Interval (LPI)  
gives pedestrians a 3–7 second 
(min) head start at crossings. LPIs 
increase pedestrian visibility and 
reinforce pedestrian right-of-way 
at intersections.


     Street Trees
Street trees encourage slower 
vehicle speeds and add to the 
street character.


     Bulb-outs/Curb Extensions
Curb extensions extend the 
sidewalk out into the parking lane 
on a street, reducing the effective 
street width and reducing the 
crossing distance.


     High Visibility Crosswalk
High Visibility Crosswalk markings 
notify drivers of potential 
pedestrians crossing the street.


     Pinole Creek Trail Crossing
Creating a safe crossing across 
San Pablo Ave will unlock access 
to Bayfront Park and the Bay Trail.


          Extending Sidewalk
Extending sidewalks and removing 
obstacles such as driveways can 
increase the comfort and safety of 
the pedestrian network.


     Formalize Intersection
Adding pedestrian amenities at 
this intersection will provide critical 
connections in the pedestrian 
network.


1 12


2


6


6


7 8 9


7 8 9


10


10


5


5


Site Specific Recommendations 
(for Further Study)


4


4


3


3


28    City of Pinole







B
33


2
34


A
31


FERNANDEZ
PARK


PINOLE
SENIOR
CENTER


St. JOSEPH
CHURCH


CHURCH OF
CHRIST


POST
OFFICE


CITY
HALL


PINOLE UNITED
METHODIST


CHURCH


PI
N


O
LE


 C
R


EE
K


PINOLE
YOUTH


CENTER


PUBLIC SAFETY
BUILDING


PARK VIEW
PLAZA


BANK OF
PINOLE


P
IN


O
LE


 C
R


E
E


K
 T


R
A


IL
PI


NOLE
 C


REE
K 


TR
AI


L


St. JOSEPH
SCHOOL


Priority Pedestrian Improvements


1. Tennent at San Pablo (pg.30)


2. Pinole Creek Trail at San Pablo (pg.32)


3. Pinole Valley at San Pablo (pg.32)


4. Bay Front Park (pg.38)


A


B


C


D


00 100' 200'


2


2


2


2


2


2


2


3


4


4


4
4 4


4


4 4


4


4


5


5


5


6


7


A


104


4


9


NOTES


1. Remove Slip Lane


2. Leading Pedestrian Interval


3. Street trees


4. Curb Extension


5. High Vis Crossing Markings


6. Pinole Creek Trail Crossing


7. Extend Sidewalk, Relocate Parking


8. Extend Sidewalk, Remove Driveway


9. Extend Sidewalk, Relocate Driveway


10. Formalize Intersection


11. Wayfinding directing pedestrians to
crossing at San Pablo


1


2


3


4


5


6


7


8


9


10


a
Legend
· Existing Bus Stop


· Existing Surface Parking Lot


· Recommend pedestrian wayfinding at
all public parking, OTP intersections
and along the Pinole Creek Trail
directing visitors to key Old Town
destinations


Install standard parking signage on
approach streets and at lots for easier
identification


A


B
C


D


11


11


A


A


A


A


A


A


A


A


A


A


A


A


A
A


AA


A


A


3


3


3


8


BAYFRONT PARK
SF BAY TRAIL


FERNANDEZ MANSION


1


Old Town Pinole Pedestrian 
Improvements  Overview


Old Town Pinole Parking and Pedestrian Safety Study        29







3


NOTES


1. Extend sidewalk to the intersection to
remove gap


2. Reduced corner radius


3. Curb extension


4. High-Vis crossing markings


5. Street trees and planting


6. On street parking


7. Consolidate additional driveways


1


2


3


4


5


6


00 40' 80'
1


2


4


5


5


5


5


6


SAN PABLO AVE AT TENNENT AVE


7


7


7


A


3


3


3


Scale: 1" = 10'-0"
EXISTING SAN PABLO AVE AND TENNENT AVEA1


FACING SOUTHWEST


Scale: 1" = 10'-0"
PROPOSED SAN PABLO AVE AND TENNENTA2


FACING SOUTHWEST


12'
TRAVEL LANE6'


DRIVEWAY


8'
PARKING


12'
TRAVEL LANE


11'
TURN LANE


12'
TRAVEL LANE


7'
DRIVEWAY


FACING SOUTHWEST


COMMERCIAL
PARKING LOT


FACING SOUTHWEST


PUMP HOUSE
GAS STATION


APPROX. 67'


12'
TRAVEL LANE


12'
TRAVEL LANE


8'
S.W.


8'
AMENITY


ZONE
12'


TRAVEL LANE


9'
AMENITY


ZONE


12'
SHARED


TRAVEL LANE 8'
S.W.


PUMP HOUSE
GAS STATION


APPROX. 48'


12'
SHARED


TRAVEL LANE


PARKING
BEYOND


PARKING
BEYOND


COMMERCIAL
PARKING LOT


SHEET       OF      


N
:\S


ha
re


d\
PR


O
JE


C
TS


\2
01


9\
00


-2
01


9-
19


1 
Pi


no
le


, C
A 


O
TP


 P
ar


ki
ng


Pe
d 


Sa
fe


ty
 S


tu
dy


\0
8_


C
AD


\1
9-


19
1_


Se
ct


io
ns


.d
w


g


OLD TOWN PINOLE PEDESTRIAN SAFETY
JANUARY 2020


Old Town Pinole Pedestrian Safety Improvements Sections 31


Improving pedestrian visibility through supportive 
infrastructure increases safety for all road users. By 
extending the sidewalks, removing on-street parking, 
reducing corner radii, installing curb extensions, and 
installing improved crossing facilities, pedestrian safety 
is enhanced. On-street parking and amenities such as 
street trees have been shown to reduce the speed of 
drivers. Adding to the existing assets of Old Town Pinole 
by installing these amenities, pedestrian visibility is further 
increased, as drivers have more time to observe their 
surroundings. 


Improvements Plan View:
Tennent Ave at San Pablo Ave


30    City of Pinole







Scale: 1" = 10'-0"
EXISTING SAN PABLO AVE AND TENNENT AVEA1


FACING SOUTHWEST


Scale: 1" = 10'-0"
PROPOSED SAN PABLO AVE AND TENNENTA2


FACING SOUTHWEST


12'
TRAVEL LANE6'


DRIVEWAY


8'
PARKING


12'
TRAVEL LANE


11'
TURN LANE


12'
TRAVEL LANE


7'
DRIVEWAY


FACING SOUTHWEST


COMMERCIAL
PARKING LOT


FACING SOUTHWEST


PUMP HOUSE
GAS STATION


APPROX. 67'


12'
TRAVEL LANE


12'
TRAVEL LANE


8'
S.W.


8'
AMENITY


ZONE
12'


TRAVEL LANE


9'
AMENITY


ZONE


12'
SHARED


TRAVEL LANE 8'
S.W.


PUMP HOUSE
GAS STATION


APPROX. 48'


12'
SHARED


TRAVEL LANE


PARKING
BEYOND


PARKING
BEYOND


COMMERCIAL
PARKING LOT


SHEET       OF      


N
:\S


ha
re


d\
PR


O
JE


C
TS


\2
01


9\
00


-2
01


9-
19


1 
Pi


no
le


, C
A 


O
TP


 P
ar


ki
ng


Pe
d 


Sa
fe


ty
 S


tu
dy


\0
8_


C
AD


\1
9-


19
1_


Se
ct


io
ns


.d
w


g


OLD TOWN PINOLE PEDESTRIAN SAFETY
JANUARY 2020


Old Town Pinole Pedestrian Safety Improvements Sections 31


Scale: 1" = 10'-0"
EXISTING SAN PABLO AVE AND TENNENT AVEA1


FACING SOUTHWEST


Scale: 1" = 10'-0"
PROPOSED SAN PABLO AVE AND TENNENTA2


FACING SOUTHWEST


12'
TRAVEL LANE6'


DRIVEWAY


8'
PARKING


12'
TRAVEL LANE


11'
TURN LANE


12'
TRAVEL LANE


7'
DRIVEWAY


FACING SOUTHWEST


COMMERCIAL
PARKING LOT


FACING SOUTHWEST


PUMP HOUSE
GAS STATION


APPROX. 67'


12'
TRAVEL LANE


12'
TRAVEL LANE


8'
S.W.


8'
AMENITY


ZONE
12'


TRAVEL LANE


9'
AMENITY


ZONE


12'
SHARED


TRAVEL LANE 8'
S.W.


PUMP HOUSE
GAS STATION


APPROX. 48'


12'
SHARED


TRAVEL LANE


PARKING
BEYOND


PARKING
BEYOND


COMMERCIAL
PARKING LOT


SHEET       OF      


N
:\S


ha
re


d\
PR


O
JE


C
TS


\2
01


9\
00


-2
01


9-
19


1 
Pi


no
le


, C
A 


O
TP


 P
ar


ki
ng


Pe
d 


Sa
fe


ty
 S


tu
dy


\0
8_


C
AD


\1
9-


19
1_


Se
ct


io
ns


.d
w


g


OLD TOWN PINOLE PEDESTRIAN SAFETY
JANUARY 2020


Old Town Pinole Pedestrian Safety Improvements Sections 31


Existing San Pablo Avenue and Tennent 
Avenue Intersection


Proposed San Pablo Avenue and 
Tennent Avenue Intersection in the 
Three Corridors Specific Plan


Improvements Sections: 
San Pablo Ave at Tennent Ave


Improvements Plan View:
Tennent Ave at San Pablo Ave


Old Town Pinole Parking and Pedestrian Safety Study        31







1 2


IMPROVEMENT PLAN VIEW: PINOLE CREEK TRAIL AND PINOLE VALLEY RD AT SAN PABLO AVE


00 40' 80'


NOTES


1. Pedestrian signal, synced with Pinole
Valley


2. Curb extension


3. High Vis crossing markings


4. Match dimensions from Fernandez Ave


5. Relocate driveway to Rafaela St.


1


2


3


4


1


1


2


2


2


3


5


5


B C


2


2


4


Installing improved crossing facilities, such as a pedestrian 
signal, curb extensions, and high visibility crosswalks, will 
allow drivers to see pedestrians more readily. Relocating 
the driveways along Pinole Valley Road to Rafaela Street 
will reduce potential conflicts between drivers and 
pedestrians at this location and will close the existing gap 
in the pedestrian network. This will have the additional 
benefit of providing space for potential street trees and 
other amenities such as benches and art installations.


Improvements Plan View:
Pinole Creek Trail and Pinole Valley Rd at San Pablo Ave


8'
PARKING
BEYOND


12'
TRAVEL LANE


7'
S.W.


8'
PARKING


12'
TRAVEL LANE


12'
SHARED


TRAVEL LANE


12'
SHARED


TRAVEL LANE
8'


S.W.


Scale: 1" = 10'-0"
EXISTING SAN PABLO AVE AND PINOLE CREEK TRAILB1


FACING SOUTHWEST


PINOLE CREEK
TRAIL


Scale: 1" = 10'-0"
PROPOSED SAN PABLO AVE AND PINOLE CREEK TRAILB2


FACING SOUTHWEST


PINOLE CREEK
TRAIL


6'
BULB-OUT


APPROX. 58'


8'
PARKING
BEYOND


12'
TRAVEL LANE


7'
S.W.


12'
TRAVEL LANE


12'
SHARED


TRAVEL LANE


12'
SHARED


TRAVEL LANE
8'


S.W.
PINOLE CREEK


TRAIL
PINOLE CREEK


TRAIL
8'


BULB-OUT


APPROX. 50'


8'
BULB-OUT


8'
PARKING
BEYOND


TYPICAL ROADWAY WIDTH APPROX. 64'


SHEET       OF      


N
:\S


ha
re


d\
PR


O
JE


C
TS


\2
01


9\
00


-2
01


9-
19


1 
Pi


no
le


, C
A 


O
TP


 P
ar


ki
ng


Pe
d 


Sa
fe


ty
 S


tu
dy


\0
8_


C
AD


\1
9-


19
1_


Se
ct


io
ns


.d
w


g


OLD TOWN PINOLE PEDESTRIAN SAFETY
JANUARY 2020


Old Town Pinole Pedestrian Safety Improvements Sections 32


8'
PARKING
BEYOND


12'
TRAVEL LANE


7'
S.W.


8'
PARKING


12'
TRAVEL LANE


12'
SHARED


TRAVEL LANE


12'
SHARED


TRAVEL LANE
8'


S.W.


Scale: 1" = 10'-0"
EXISTING SAN PABLO AVE AND PINOLE CREEK TRAILB1


FACING SOUTHWEST


PINOLE CREEK
TRAIL


Scale: 1" = 10'-0"
PROPOSED SAN PABLO AVE AND PINOLE CREEK TRAILB2


FACING SOUTHWEST


PINOLE CREEK
TRAIL


6'
BULB-OUT


APPROX. 58'


8'
PARKING
BEYOND


12'
TRAVEL LANE


7'
S.W.


12'
TRAVEL LANE


12'
SHARED


TRAVEL LANE


12'
SHARED


TRAVEL LANE
8'


S.W.
PINOLE CREEK


TRAIL
PINOLE CREEK


TRAIL
8'


BULB-OUT


APPROX. 50'


8'
BULB-OUT


8'
PARKING
BEYOND


TYPICAL ROADWAY WIDTH APPROX. 64'


SHEET       OF      


N
:\S


ha
re


d\
PR


O
JE


C
TS


\2
01


9\
00


-2
01


9-
19


1 
Pi


no
le


, C
A 


O
TP


 P
ar


ki
ng


Pe
d 


Sa
fe


ty
 S


tu
dy


\0
8_


C
AD


\1
9-


19
1_


Se
ct


io
ns


.d
w


g


OLD TOWN PINOLE PEDESTRIAN SAFETY
JANUARY 2020


Old Town Pinole Pedestrian Safety Improvements Sections 32


32    City of Pinole







Existing Pinole Valley Road Proposed Pinole Valley Road in the 
Three Corridors Specific Plan


Improvements Sections: 
San Pablo Ave at Pinole Valley Rd


Improvements Plan View:
Pinole Creek Trail and Pinole Valley Rd at San Pablo Ave


8'
PARKING
BEYOND


12'
TRAVEL LANE


7'
S.W.


8'
PARKING


12'
TRAVEL LANE


12'
SHARED


TRAVEL LANE


12'
SHARED


TRAVEL LANE
8'


S.W.


Scale: 1" = 10'-0"
EXISTING SAN PABLO AVE AND PINOLE CREEK TRAILB1


FACING SOUTHWEST


PINOLE CREEK
TRAIL


Scale: 1" = 10'-0"
PROPOSED SAN PABLO AVE AND PINOLE CREEK TRAILB2


FACING SOUTHWEST


PINOLE CREEK
TRAIL


6'
BULB-OUT


APPROX. 58'


8'
PARKING
BEYOND


12'
TRAVEL LANE


7'
S.W.


12'
TRAVEL LANE


12'
SHARED


TRAVEL LANE


12'
SHARED


TRAVEL LANE
8'


S.W.
PINOLE CREEK


TRAIL
PINOLE CREEK


TRAIL
8'


BULB-OUT


APPROX. 50'


8'
BULB-OUT


8'
PARKING
BEYOND


TYPICAL ROADWAY WIDTH APPROX. 64'


SHEET       OF      


N
:\S


ha
re


d\
PR


O
JE


C
TS


\2
01


9\
00


-2
01


9-
19


1 
Pi


no
le


, C
A 


O
TP


 P
ar


ki
ng


Pe
d 


Sa
fe


ty
 S


tu
dy


\0
8_


C
AD


\1
9-


19
1_


Se
ct


io
ns


.d
w


g


OLD TOWN PINOLE PEDESTRIAN SAFETY
JANUARY 2020


Old Town Pinole Pedestrian Safety Improvements Sections 32


8'
PARKING
BEYOND


12'
TRAVEL LANE


7'
S.W.


8'
PARKING


12'
TRAVEL LANE


12'
SHARED


TRAVEL LANE


12'
SHARED


TRAVEL LANE
8'


S.W.


Scale: 1" = 10'-0"
EXISTING SAN PABLO AVE AND PINOLE CREEK TRAILB1


FACING SOUTHWEST


PINOLE CREEK
TRAIL


Scale: 1" = 10'-0"
PROPOSED SAN PABLO AVE AND PINOLE CREEK TRAILB2


FACING SOUTHWEST


PINOLE CREEK
TRAIL


6'
BULB-OUT


APPROX. 58'


8'
PARKING
BEYOND


12'
TRAVEL LANE


7'
S.W.


12'
TRAVEL LANE


12'
SHARED


TRAVEL LANE


12'
SHARED


TRAVEL LANE
8'


S.W.
PINOLE CREEK


TRAIL
PINOLE CREEK


TRAIL
8'


BULB-OUT


APPROX. 50'


8'
BULB-OUT


8'
PARKING
BEYOND


TYPICAL ROADWAY WIDTH APPROX. 64'


SHEET       OF      


N
:\S


ha
re


d\
PR


O
JE


C
TS


\2
01


9\
00


-2
01


9-
19


1 
Pi


no
le


, C
A 


O
TP


 P
ar


ki
ng


Pe
d 


Sa
fe


ty
 S


tu
dy


\0
8_


C
AD


\1
9-


19
1_


Se
ct


io
ns


.d
w


g


OLD TOWN PINOLE PEDESTRIAN SAFETY
JANUARY 2020


Old Town Pinole Pedestrian Safety Improvements Sections 32


Old Town Pinole Parking and Pedestrian Safety Study        33







15'
TRAVEL LANE


5'
AMENITY


5'
PAINTED MEDIAN


5'
S.W.


13'
TRAVEL LANE


5'
S.W.


10'
TRAVEL LANE ≈9'


8'
S.W.


6'
S.W.


10'
TRAVEL LANE


AMENITY
ZONE


Scale: 1" = 10'-0"
EXISTING PINOLE VALLEY RD AT SAN PABLOC1


FACING NORTHWEST


Scale: 1" = 10'-0"
PINOLE VALLEY RD AT SAN PABLO AVEC2


FACING NORTHWEST


≈5'


AMENITY
ZONE


SHEET       OF      


N
:\S


ha
re


d\
PR


O
JE


C
TS


\2
01


9\
00


-2
01


9-
19


1 
Pi


no
le


, C
A 


O
TP


 P
ar


ki
ng


Pe
d 


Sa
fe


ty
 S


tu
dy


\0
8_


C
AD


\1
9-


19
1_


Se
ct


io
ns


.d
w


g


OLD TOWN PINOLE PEDESTRIAN SAFETY
JANUARY 2020


Old Town Pinole Pedestrian Safety Improvements Sections 33


15'
TRAVEL LANE


5'
AMENITY


5'
PAINTED MEDIAN


5'
S.W.


13'
TRAVEL LANE


5'
S.W.


10'
TRAVEL LANE ≈9'


8'
S.W.


6'
S.W.


10'
TRAVEL LANE


AMENITY
ZONE


Scale: 1" = 10'-0"
EXISTING PINOLE VALLEY RD AT SAN PABLOC1


FACING NORTHWEST


Scale: 1" = 10'-0"
PINOLE VALLEY RD AT SAN PABLO AVEC2


FACING NORTHWEST


≈5'


AMENITY
ZONE


SHEET       OF      


N
:\S


ha
re


d\
PR


O
JE


C
TS


\2
01


9\
00


-2
01


9-
19


1 
Pi


no
le


, C
A 


O
TP


 P
ar


ki
ng


Pe
d 


Sa
fe


ty
 S


tu
dy


\0
8_


C
AD


\1
9-


19
1_


Se
ct


io
ns


.d
w


g


OLD TOWN PINOLE PEDESTRIAN SAFETY
JANUARY 2020


Old Town Pinole Pedestrian Safety Improvements Sections 33


Existing Pinole Creek Trail Crossing 
along San Pablo Avenue


Proposed San Pablo Avenue near the 
Pinole Creek Trail crossing in the Three 
Corridors Specific Plan


Improvements Sections:
Pinole Valley Rd at San Pablo Ave


34    City of Pinole







Improvements Sections:
Pinole Valley Rd at San Pablo Ave


This page left intentionally blank.


Old Town Pinole Parking and Pedestrian Safety Study        35







Pinole Creek Trail Crossing Concept


36    City of Pinole







Old Town Pinole Parking and Pedestrian Safety Study        37







PINOLE CREEK TRAIL


SF BAY TRAIL


SF BAY TRAIL &
BAYFRONT PARK


TE
NN


EN
T 


AV
E


RAILROAD AVE


PINOLE/HERCULES
WASTEWATER TREATMENT


PLAN


P
IN


O
LE


 C
R


E
E


K


UTILIZE EXISTING TRAIL
PAVEMENT


NOTES


1. 8'-10' wide Shared Use Path


2. High Vis Crossing markings


3. Re-orient existing crossing


4. Curb Extenstion


5. Maintain 22'-24' wide driveway


6. Existing RR tracks and
crossing arms


7. Signage & Wayfinding
Opportunity


· Connections to  SF Bay Trail,
Pinole Creek Trail and Old
Town Pinole


· Interpretive signage for
Environmental Context,
Bayfront Park, Area History &
Wastewater Treatment Plan


1


2


3


4


5


PINOLE CREEK TRAIL AT BAYFRONT PARK


1


2


2
4 4


5


3


1


6


7


7


7


6


www.altaplanning.com


SHEET       OF      


N
:\S


ha
re


d\
PR


O
JE


C
TS


\2
01


9\
00


-2
01


9-
19


1 
Pi


no
le


, C
A 


O
TP


 P
ar


ki
ng


Pe
d 


Sa
fe


ty
 S


tu
dy


\0
8_


C
AD


\1
9-


19
1_


LW
D


_C
on


ce
pt


s.
dw


g


OLD TOWN PINOLE PEDESTRIAN SAFETY
JANUARY 2020 00 80' 160'


BAYFRONT PARKD


7


1


00 80' 160'


Bayfront Park
Bayfront Park is a 14 acre park located 
on San Pablo Bay. It offers scenic views 
of the San Pablo Bay. It is adjacent 
to the cultural and historic landmark,  
Fernandez Mansion, and the new Pinole 
Hercules Water Pollution Control Plant. 
Bayfront Park is connected to Old Town 
Pinole by the Pinole Creek Trail. Access 
to Bayfront Park and the SF Bay Trail 
can be improved by extending the 
shared use path to make a stronger 
connection between the end of the 
Pinole Creek Trail and the SF Bay 
Trail shown here. Creating a safe and 
comfortable experience for all trail users 
will enhance the connection between 
Old Town Pinole and the Bayfront Park.


By installing interpretive wayfinding 
and signage to explain the cultural and 
ecological significance of landmarks 
for regional bicyclists and path users, 
Bayfront Park can serve as an interactive 
connection to Old Town Pinole.


Possible rail crossing configuration at 
Bayfront Park. The existing crossing 
presents a barrier to pedestrian, 
bicyclists, and drivers attempting to 
access Old Town Pinole.


*Aerial photo of Bayfront Park shows construction trailers from Wastewater Treatment Plant project that were removed in Fall 2019


38    City of Pinole







PINOLE CREEK TRAIL


SF BAY TRAIL


SF BAY TRAIL &
BAYFRONT PARK


TE
NN


EN
T 


AV
E


RAILROAD AVE


PINOLE/HERCULES
WASTEWATER TREATMENT


PLAN


P
IN


O
LE


 C
R


E
E


K


UTILIZE EXISTING TRAIL
PAVEMENT


NOTES


1. 8'-10' wide Shared Use Path


2. High Vis Crossing markings


3. Re-orient existing crossing


4. Curb Extenstion


5. Maintain 22'-24' wide driveway


6. Existing RR tracks and
crossing arms


7. Signage & Wayfinding
Opportunity


· Connections to  SF Bay Trail,
Pinole Creek Trail and Old
Town Pinole


· Interpretive signage for
Environmental Context,
Bayfront Park, Area History &
Wastewater Treatment Plan


1


2


3


4


5


PINOLE CREEK TRAIL AT BAYFRONT PARK


1


2


2
4 4


5


3


1


6


7


7


7


6


www.altaplanning.com


SHEET       OF      


N
:\S


ha
re


d\
PR


O
JE


C
TS


\2
01


9\
00


-2
01


9-
19


1 
Pi


no
le


, C
A 


O
TP


 P
ar


ki
ng


Pe
d 


Sa
fe


ty
 S


tu
dy


\0
8_


C
AD


\1
9-


19
1_


LW
D


_C
on


ce
pt


s.
dw


g


OLD TOWN PINOLE PEDESTRIAN SAFETY
JANUARY 2020 00 80' 160'


BAYFRONT PARKD


7


1


00 80' 160'


*Aerial photo of Bayfront Park shows construction trailers from Wastewater Treatment Plant project that were removed in Fall 2019


Old Town Pinole Parking and Pedestrian Safety Study        39







Signage and 
Wayfinding
Vehicular Wayfinding
Developing and implementing signage 
for public surface lots that utilize 
standardized symbols and language 
in accordance with best practices and 
CA MUTCD guidelines will encourage 
drivers to utilize all available parking. The 
need for consistent and recognizable 
public parking signage is an idea that 
came out of the public outreach with 
residence and business owners.


Pedestrian Oriented Wayfinding
Pedestrian wayfinding can encourage 
visitors to Old Town Pinole to walk 
to and between destinations. This 
means connecting remote parking 
lots to destinations. Developing and 
implementing pedestrian wayfinding 
at all parking areas, to the Pinole Creek 
Trail, and to intersections will encourage 
pedestrian access to Old Town Pinole. 


Bay Trail and Pinole Creek Trail
Old Town Pinole has exceptional 
access to both local and regional 
trails. Developing and implementing 
wayfinding to these trails will encourage 
visits to Old Town from the Bay Trail and 
to the Bayfront Park from Old Town.


Expand on existing successful signage 
to connect people to Old Town Pinole, 
Bayfront Park, and the SF Bay Trail via 
the Pinole Creek Trail


Existing Old Town signage is oriented 
only for drivers. Unique symbols add 
character, but make it difficult to identify 
destinations such as parking


40    City of Pinole







Conceptual Wayfinding Upgrades


Existing 


Existing 


Proposed Pedestrian


Proposed Parking 


Old Town Pinole Parking and Pedestrian Safety Study        41







Conclusion
This study developed recommendations 
to meet the four goals of increasing 
parking utilization, improving pedestrian 
and bicyclist safety in Old Town Pinole, 
creating greater connectivity between 
destinations in and around Old Town 
Pinole, and enhancing Old Town Pinole’s 
character. The recommendations were 
developed by utilizing current best 
practices to address the concerns that 
were identified through the public 
outreach and engagement process, the 
collision analysis, and the parking study.


Parking Utilization
Through the Parking Study that was 
conducted as a part of this study, it was 
found that parking is underutilized in 
some areas of Old Town Pinole. Signage 
and an improved wayfinding network 
should be installed to improve parking 
utilization in Old Town Pinole. Utilizing 
standard symbols and language will 
help direct drivers to lots throughout 
Old Town Pinole. This recommendation 
was supported by the public outreach 
process, with residents and business 
owners expressing the need for a 
standardized system. This will make 
navigation through Old Town Pinole 
easier as both a driver and as a 
pedestrian.


Improving Pedestrian and 
Bicyclist Safety
The need to improve pedestrian and 
bicyclist safety was identified in the 
collision analysis and the public outreach 
process. A variety of recommendations 
were developed to meet this goal. 


Facilities like curb extensions and high 
visibility crosswalks alert drivers to 
pedestrians and bicyclists crossing the 
street. This allows the driver more time 
to come to a complete stop, reducing 
the chance of a collision.


Other recommendations were 
developed for two key themes identified 
during the public outreach process: slow 
traffic down and improve pedestrian 
experience.. These were two key themes 
identified during the public outreach 
process. Such recommendations include 
narrowing Pinole Valley Road to increase 
the pedestrian amenity zone, removing 
the right-turn slip lane on San Pablo 
Avenue, and installing more street trees 
throughout Old Town Pinole. 


Slowing traffic reduces the chance 
of a collision. This is essential for 
increasing pedestrian safety in Old Town 
Pinole. These recommendations were 
developed by incorporating current best 
practices for reducing drivers’ speed 
while also increasing the visibility of 


42    City of Pinole







pedestrians and bicyclists.   


Increasing Connectivity
To create a more cohesive pedestrian 
network in Old Town Pinole, pedestrian 
oriented wayfinding should be installed 
and pedestrian network gaps should be 
addressed. Improving trail connections 
will greatly enhance the pedestrian 
experience in Old Town Pinole by 
allowing users to travel through the area 
on a unique, low-stress network. 


Pedestrian oriented wayfinding will help 
trail users connect to and from their 
destinations. This will make for a more 
pleasant pedestrian experience for both 
residents and visitors alike.


Addressing pedestrian network gaps, 
like extending the sidewalk along 
Tennent Avenue, will allow for a safer, 
more comfortable pedestrian experience 
in OId Town Pinole.


Old Town Pinole Character
Old Town Pinole has a small town charm 
that its residents are proud of. Many 
recommendations in this report will help 
elevate this appeal.


Placemaking elements, such as branded 
wayfinding, extending and improving 
the existing trail network, pedestrian 
scale lighting, and an improved 


pedestrian network will help attract new 
visitors to the area.


Referenced Plans 
and Resources
• Contra Costa Transportation 


Authority. (2018). Contra Costa 
Countywide Bicycle and Pedestrian 
Plan. Accessed at: https://ccta.
net/2018/10/18/countywide-bicycle-
and-pedestrian-plan/


• City of Pinole, California. (2010) 
General Plan Update. Accessed at: 
https://www.ci.pinole.ca.us/city_
government/planning/general_plan


• City of Pinole, California (2018). 
Three Corridors Specific Plan. 
Accessed at: https://www.ci.pinole.
ca.us/city_government/planning/
general_plan/three_corridors_
specific_plan


Old Town Pinole Parking and Pedestrian Safety Study        43





		Attachment B. Plan Set.pdf

		A01 - Title, Vicinity Map, Abbreviations,Symbols & Perspective

		A02 - Existing Site Plan & Standard Notes

		A03 - Propsed Site Plan & Standard Note

		A04 - Notes, Electrical Notes, Header Schedule & Schedules

		A05 - Existing Floor Plans

		A06 - Floor Plans

		A07 - Existing Buidiing Elevations

		A08 - Proposed Buidiing Elevation

		A09 - Building Sections & 1 Hour Wall Seperation, Window Flashing

		A10 - Details

		A11 - Photos

		Proposed Site Plan - 2279 Park St.pdf

		Sheets and Views

		A.3














